

Assessing Welsh Fishing Activities -Phase 1

Principles and prioritisation report

Welsh Government October 2016

Creating sustainable solutions for the marine environment









Page intentionally left blank

Document Information

Document History and Authorisation		
Title	Assessing Wels	sh Fishing Activities - Phase 1
	Principles and	prioritisation report
Commissioned by	Welsh Governi	ment
Issue date	October 2016	
Document ref	R.2607	
Project no	R/4381/1	
Date	Version	Revision Details
29/01/2016	0.1	1st Draft, issued for client review
11/03/2016	1.0	Final, issued for client use
14/04/2016	1.1	Revised Final, issued for client use
20/06/2016	1.2	Revised Final, issued for client use
07/10/2016	1.3	Revised Final, issued for client use
14/10/2016	1.4	Revised Final, issued for client use

Prepared (PM)	Approved (QM)	Authorised (PD)
S. F. Walmsley	N. J. Frost	S. C. Hull

Suggested Citation

ABPmer, (2016). Assessing Welsh Fishing Activities - Phase 1, Principles and prioritisation report. ABPmer Report No R.2607. A report produced by ABPmer for Welsh Government, October 2016.

Contributing Authors

S. F. Walmsley, P. S. Weller, C. A. Roberts (ABPmer), C. Eno (Eno Consulting).

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Welsh Government, Natural Resources Wales and the Welsh Fishermen's Association for their collaboration throughout the implementation of the project. They would also like to thank Natural England for providing the Fisheries Impacts Evidence Database and SPA Toolkit to inform the Evidence Database.

Notice

ABP Marine Environmental Research Ltd ("ABPmer") has prepared this report in accordance with the client's instructions, for the client's sole purpose and use. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written agreement of ABPmer. ABPmer does not accept liability to any person other than the client. If the client discloses this report to a third party, it shall make them aware that ABPmer shall not be liable to them in relation to this report. The client shall indemnify ABPmer in the event that ABPmer suffers any loss or damage as a result of the client's failure to comply with this requirement.

Sections of this report may rely on information supplied by or drawn from third party sources. Unless otherwise expressly stated in this report, ABPmer has not independently checked or verified such information. ABPmer does not accept liability for any loss or damage suffered by any person, including the client, as a result of any error or inaccuracy in any third party information or for any conclusions drawn by ABPmer which are based on such information.

All content in this report should be considered provisional and should not be relied upon until a final version marked *'issued for client use'* is issued.

All images copyright ABPmer apart from front cover (wave, anemone, bird)

ABP Marine Environmental Research Ltd Quayside Suite, Medina Chambers, Town Quay, Southampton SO14 2AQ T: +44 (0) 2380 711844 W: http://www.abpmer.co.uk/

Executive Summary

The Welsh Government commissioned ABPmer to build upon the work carried out by other administrations on fishing gear–feature interactions, tailoring the information to the Welsh context and incorporating new evidence sources. This is Phase 1 of the Assessing Welsh Fishing Activities Project and the outputs of this work are:

- A generic 'Welsh Matrix' which identifies the risk of each gear–feature interaction, and prioritises the interactions for further assessment, whilst maintaining a clear audit trail;
- An Evidence Database that compiles relevant evidence on the impacts of each gear–feature interaction; and
- This Principles and Priorities document.

This report provides the principles under which the assessment process of fisheries impacts should be considered, and details the methodology used to arrive at the prioritisation of interactions for assessment.

It is accompanied by an Excel Matrix file showing the step-wise prioritisation process, and an Excel Evidence Database providing summaries of key sources of evidence relating to specific gear–feature interactions.

Contents

1	Intro	duction	1
2	Princ	iples	3
	2.1	Scope	3
	2.2	Assessments	4
	2.3	Roles and responsibilities	4
	2.4	Generic risk prioritisation followed by assessments of specific interactions	5
	2.5	Evidence-led approach	5
	2.6	Risk prioritisation	5
	2.7	Management of risk	7
	2.8	Periodic review	7
3	Matr	ix Structure and Prioritisation	8
	3.1	Matrix structure and risk rating	8
	3.2	Process for prioritisation of gear-feature interactions	8
	3.3	Outcome of prioritisation	11
4	Evide	ence Database	17
5	Refer	rences	
6	Abbr	eviations/Acronyms	20

Appendices

А	Final Prioritisation Matrix	
	A.1 Habitats	
_	A.2 Mobile Species	
В	Features Present in Welsh Sites	
С	Fishing Gears Currently Used in Welsh Waters	
D	Fisheries Management Measures	
Е	List of Evidence Sources	
	E.1 List of evidence sources from FIED	
	E.2 List of additional evidence sources included in Evidence Database	

Tables

Table 1.	Outcome of prioritisation process	
Table B.1	Matrix features and corresponding Welsh component features	25
Table B.2	Welsh component features and corresponding Matrix Features	
Table B.3	Matrix Features and corresponding FishMap Môn Habitats	
	1 5 1	

1 Introduction

In 2012, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) announced a revised approach to the management of commercial fisheries in European Marine Sites (EMS). The objective of this revised approach is to ensure that all existing and potential commercial fishing activities are managed in accordance with Article 6 of the Habitats and Birds Directives.

The Welsh Government has been assessing new fisheries legislation and permitted activities under Article 6 of the Habitats and Birds Directives for a number of years. Following careful consideration of obligations and resources, Welsh Government has decided, in partnership with its statutory nature conservation advisors Natural Resources Wales (NRW), to undertake a structured evaluation of fishing activity interactions with features of Welsh Marine Protected Areas (MPAs). This is referred to as the Assessing Welsh Fishing Activities (AWFA) Project.

Welsh Government is currently in the process of reviewing all fisheries legislation in Wales. Whilst this is a large task and will take some time to complete this new structured evaluation of the interactions between fishing activities and MPA features/sub-features will contribute towards this review process.

The outputs of AWFA Project will also assist in the delivery of a number of actions from the LIFE Natura 2000 (N2K) Programme for Wales¹, enabling Wales to make significant progress toward bringing EMS habitats and species into favourable condition and helping meet commitments under the Habitats and Birds Directives.

The Welsh Government commissioned ABPmer to build upon the work carried out by other administrations on fishing gear–feature interactions, tailoring the information to the Welsh context and incorporating new evidence sources. This is Phase 1 of the AWFA Project and the outputs of this work are:

- A generic 'Welsh Matrix' which identifies the risk of each gear/feature interaction, and prioritises the interactions for further assessment, whilst maintaining a clear audit trail;
- An Evidence Database that compiles relevant evidence on the impacts of each gear–feature interaction; and
- This Principles and Priorities document.

The scope of the work focuses on Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and Ramsar sites within 12 nm of the Welsh coast and considers impacts on habitats as well as mobile species features (e.g. fish, birds and marine mammals). The scope covers existing and potential commercial marine fishing activities from a licensed and registered fishing vessel (hereafter referred to as 'commercial fishing').

The fishing gear classification for the Matrix is based on an existing English Matrix (MMO, 2014), which has been reviewed to ensure that all relevant Welsh fishing activities are reflected and are included within the Matrix. The Matrix is generic, providing a high-level consideration of the risk of impact from fishing gear types against protected habitats and species.

¹

https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/our-projects/life-n2k-wales/life-n2k-wales/?lang=en

Sequential versions of the Matrix apply a series of transparent steps to guide Welsh Government in prioritising interactions for further assessment. This provides a risk-based approach to prioritisation and will allow for a phased approach to delivery of assessments. The assessments will be implemented through Phase 2 of the AWFA Project.

This report provides the principles under which the assessment process of fisheries impacts should be considered, and details the methodology used to arrive at the prioritisation of interactions for assessment.

2 **Principles**

Assessments of the impact of commercial fishing activities on Welsh designated features will be conducted under the following principles.

2.1 Scope

2.1.1 Legislative drivers

Two key Acts have recently been passed in Wales which provide an over-arching context for the AWFA Project. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires public bodies to pursue the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales in a way that accords with the sustainable development principle. The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 aims to promote sustainable management of natural resources in Wales. The outputs of this Project will support the aims of these pieces of legislation by contributing to the sustainable management of the marine environment which is fundamental to the well-being of future generations. The outputs will safeguard Wales' network of MPAs, strengthen the resilience of the marine environment so that it continues to provide employment, food and tourism, and contribute to a sustainable exploitation of marine fisheries resources as defined under the Environment Act.

The impacts of fishing activities in EMS will be considered under Article 6(2) of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC), where 'Member States shall take appropriate steps to avoid, in the special areas of conservation, the deterioration of natural habitats and the habitats of species as well as disturbances of the species for which the areas have been designated, in so far as such disturbance could be significant in relation to the objectives of this Directive'.

Article 6(2) of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC), requires Welsh Government to avoid the deterioration of natural habitats and the habitats of species, as well as disturbances of the species for which the areas have been designated, in so far as such disturbance by fishing activities could be significant in relation to the objectives of the Habitats and Birds Directives. Article 6(2) of the Habitats Directive has an emphasis on preventative measures, it is broad in scope and it is applicable to the all activities within a SAC.

2.1.2 Geographic

The scope of the current work covers Welsh waters out to 12 nm.

2.1.3 MPA sites and features

The project will utilise the features contained within the Habitats and Birds Directives including EUNIS level 3 habitats and habitats of conservation interest listed in OSPAR and the Environment Act section 7.

The features/sub-features are considered from the following types of site:

- Special Areas of Conservation (SACs);
- Possible Special Areas of Conservation (pSACs);
- Special Protection Areas (SPAs);
- Potential Special Protection Areas (pSPAs);
- Ramsar sites.

Habitats Directive Annex IV species are not included in the scope, unless they are also listed in Annex II.

Designated habitat features are only considered within the sites in which they are designated. Designated mobile species for specific sites are considered wherever they occur in Welsh waters to 12 nm if they are known to utilise those areas.

The prioritisation of interactions in the Matrix considers direct impacts on habitats and species only (e.g. impact of a fishing gear on a benthic habitat, entanglement of a mobile species in a fishing gear). It does not consider indirect impacts (e.g. sedimentation on adjacent habitats as a result of the action of the gear, effects of removal of prey for mobile species) or ancillary activities (e.g. impacts as a result of gaining access or bait collecting).

When further detailed assessments are undertaken in Phase 2 of the AWFA Project, both direct and indirect impacts of the activity and ancillary activities will be considered, as appropriate.

2.1.4 Activity type

The activity type includes existing and potential fishing activities taking place from licensed and registered commercial fishing vessels only.

2.2 Assessments

Assessments of the impacts of fishing activities in European Marine Sites will be implemented under Article 6(2) of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC), where 'Member States shall take appropriate steps to avoid, in the special areas of conservation, the deterioration of natural habitats and the habitats of species as well as disturbances of the species for which the areas have been designated, in so far as such disturbance could be significant in relation to the objectives of this Directive'.

The objectives of the Directives in this context relate to the favourable conservation status of a site's features. The conservation objectives of a site prescribe the conditions required to enable the site to make its appropriate contribution to favourable conservation status for the site's features.

2.3 Roles and responsibilities

Welsh Government is responsible for the management of fishing activities from licensed and registered commercial fishing vessels.

Natural Resources Wales is the statutory nature conservation advisor to Welsh Government, advising on the environmental sustainability of management measures on MPA features.

The AWFA Project, led by Welsh Government but in partnership with NRW, will deliver evidence-based assessments to inform Welsh Government on the interactions between fishing activities from licensed and registered commercial fishing vessels with protected features. The assessments will be undertaken in a fully auditable and transparent manner.

Informed by the assessments but outside the scope of this project, the Welsh Government, as fishery manager, will decide whether additional management measures should be implemented to avoid impacts on protected habitats or mobile species.

2.4 Generic risk prioritisation followed by assessments of specific interactions

The Matrix provides the generic risk-rating of gear–feature interactions, in line with the approach adopted by the English administration. These generic ratings will be considered in detail in subsequent assessments of each interaction under Phase 2 of the AWFA Project. These further assessments will consider the specific detail of the gear types used in Welsh waters, and the specific biotopes or characteristics of features in Welsh waters. The assessments will need to identify the presence or absence of features and the associated confidence level.

2.5 Evidence-led approach

Assessments of gear–feature interactions are based on best-available current evidence. This has been compiled into an Evidence Database, using the English Matrix and Fisheries Impacts Evidence Database (FIED) as a starting point, supplemented by other relevant evidence sources.

2.6 Risk prioritisation

Assessments will be implemented in phases, prioritised according to the risk associated with gear-feature interactions. These gear-feature combinations are initially categorised as:

- Purple (high risk) these have the highest priority for further assessment due to the high risk
 of the gear damaging the feature, should fishing occur on it, and the confidence in the
 underpinning evidence. Irrespective of feature condition, level of pressure, or background
 environmental conditions in all MPAs where that feature occurs, these interactions are a priority
 for further assessment.
- Orange (medium risk) feature may be impacted by the gear type. In all MPAs where that
 feature occurs, the effect of that activity or activities on such features will need to be assessed
 in detail, taking into account the characteristics of the gears used in Wales, and the
 characteristics of the feature present. The orange risk interactions reflect a range of situations,
 such as:
 - Lack of confidence in the impacts of the gear on the feature, which may reflect either conflicting conclusions of different studies, or a range of sensitivities of the feature according to the specific biotopes considered;
 - Lack of evidence on the impacts from the gear on the feature;
 - Available evidence indicates the impact is low but unsure about level of fishing effort.
- Green (low risk) feature is highly unlikely to be affected by a type of fishing activity in all MPAs where that feature occurs. Further action is not likely to be required, unless there is the potential for in-combination effects or fishing occurs at very high levels of intensity.
- Blue (no risk) no feasible interaction between the gear and the feature.

The various steps of the prioritisation process (see Section 3.2) results in interactions being either greyed out or changed to a lighter shade of the original risk rating, as follows:

- Grey interaction cannot feasibly or legally occur in Welsh waters or the activity is assessed in a Habitat Regulation Assessment under Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive, it is therefore not considered further in the current round of assessments (but may be in future assessments - see Section 2.8);
- Lighter shade of risk rating interaction de-prioritised; the interaction is afforded less importance in terms of the order in which assessments will be implemented for all relevant Welsh gear-feature interactions. A de-prioritised interaction will be assessed, but the assessment will be carried out in a later phase, after the priority interactions have first been assessed. De-prioritisation reflects a range of situations, depending on the step in the prioritisation process in which it occurs:
 - Interaction does not currently occur as the gear type is not currently used in Wales (can be applied to purple-risk interactions);
 - Interaction has already been assessed and addressed through legislation (can be applied to purple-risk interactions);
 - Interaction that previous evidence reviews have concluded are lower risk (not applied to purple-risk interactions);
 - The gear is used in Wales, but the interaction is unlikely to occur, based on where and how fishing gears are deployed in Wales (not applied to purple-risk interactions, due to the risk to the feature should the interaction take place).

The de-prioritised interactions are reflected in the Matrix as:

- Pale purple: a purple-risk interaction that has been de-prioritised in one of the steps in the Matrix;
- Pale orange : an orange-risk interaction that has been de-prioritised in one of the steps in the Matrix;
- Pale green: a green-risk interaction that has been de-prioritised in one of the steps in the Matrix;
- Pale blue: a blue-risk interaction that has been de-prioritised in one of the steps in the Matrix.

The risk prioritisation process allows the identification of which assessments should be carried out first, in a transparent and auditable manner. The prioritisation is adaptive and may be revised should there be a need to increase or decrease the priority of some interactions over others, for example to address issues of concern or if evidence indicates that an interaction is of higher or lower risk than previously indicated.

Each gear–feature interaction encompasses a range of potential sensitivities according to the details of the gear type and its operation, and the specific biotopes present or characteristics of the feature. The specific sensitivity of each relevant interaction will be considered through a further detailed assessment (see Section 2.4). These assessments may conclude that the actual risk is either higher or lower than indicated in the generic Matrix.

FishMap Môn (FMM) sensitivity assessments are not incorporated in the phase 1 prioritisation process. The FMM tool may be used to indicatively inform further individual phase 2 assessments, which will consider sensitivity of features and intensity of fishing activity.

Further details on the prioritisation process and its outcome are provided in Section 3.

2.7 Management of risk

The Welsh Government will seek to prevent those fisheries with the potential to cause a significant negative impact on designated features and species, based on the outcome of the specific assessments, through a range of measures. Such measures include:

- Voluntary measures;
- Adaptive management measures;
- Remove/restrict measures delivered through statutory instruments.

Remove/restrict measures may include the implementation of spatial, temporal and effort restrictions, and mitigation measures to reduce the risk of a negative impact, such as technical gear measures or effort limitations to ensure fishing intensity is kept within thresholds.

Where there is a risk of a negative impact, but there is uncertainty in the assessment, further evidence gathering may be undertaken to increase the understanding of the risk. This may include clarification of the presence and extent of the designated feature, the distribution and intensity of fishing activity, and the impacts of fishing activity on the feature.

2.8 Periodic review

The risk rating of the Welsh Matrix, and the prioritisation of interactions for detailed assessment, can be periodically reviewed and updated. This will allow the incorporation of new evidence on the risk of impacts to features from fishing gears, as well as ensuring that any new or emerging fishing activities are taken account of and assessments are conducted as appropriate.

While the Matrix provides an indicative approach to prioritising the assessments in relation to the order in which they will be carried out, the Welsh Government may also direct Phase 2 of the AWFA Project to specific assessments if there is a need to do so.

3 Matrix Structure and Prioritisation

3.1 Matrix structure and risk rating

The Welsh Matrix builds upon the work already carried out by the English administration, adapted for the Welsh marine environment. This enables the assessment of Welsh fisheries to be comparable with the assessments carried out by other administrations, following a similar process. The presence of cross-border sites with England also drives the need for the process underlying the implementation of assessments to be comparable and compatible with other administrations.

The Welsh Matrix lists features that correspond to all Habitats Directive Annex I, Annex II and component features (see below) associated with Welsh SACs and SPAs against all fishing and gear types. These are referred to as 'Matrix Features'.

For habitats, the Matrix Features are based on EUNIS Level 3 categories, as in the English Matrix which termed them 'generic sub-features'. Mobile species are considered in groups that relate to behaviour and potential for interaction with fishing gears, such as benthic-feeding seabirds, and pursuit and plunge-diving seabirds.

The Welsh implementation of the MPA Stocktake process considered the 'component features' that are afforded protection in each MPA. This included EUNIS Level 3 habitats and habitats and species of conservation interest listed by OSPAR and NERC (formerly BAP), that are present within each Annex I feature for each MPA. Component features were matched against the Matrix Features to ensure that all component features were reflected in the Matrix, and any additional component features required were added to the matrix (see Section 3.2, step 1). The component features that relate to each Matrix Feature, and the Matrix Features that each component feature could be considered under, are provided in Appendix B.

The aim of the Welsh Matrix is to show, at a high generic level, gear types and their effect on relevant features, by identifying the risk of each interaction (see Section 2.4). The original risk rating from the English Matrix was used. Only direct impacts are considered in the Welsh Matrix (Section 2.1.3). Therefore, the feature 'Seagrass (SPAs)' from the English Matrix was removed, because the interaction related to indirect impacts on the designated (bird) feature of an SPA; and intertidal handwork (access from land) was removed, because a category for intertidal handwork (access from vessel) was also included and the only difference related to indirect impacts from access. The need for any additional Welsh features was considered in Step 1 of the prioritisation process (Section 3.2).

The original English Matrix included both habitat and mobile species features in a single matrix. For the Welsh Matrix, habitats and mobile species were split out into separate matrices.

The Matrix Features were ordered alphabetically, to make it easier for users to locate a particular feature. The associated Evidence Database uses pivot tables to identify relevant evidence sources, in which the Matrix Features are also displayed alphabetically.

3.2 Process for prioritisation of gear–feature interactions

The gear–feature interactions were prioritised to determine the order in which assessments should be carried out. This followed a structured, evidence-based and auditable process, described below.

Specifically, it involved the following steps to deprioritise interactions:

- 1. Matrix Features present in Welsh waters (Excel tabs 'Hab1' and 'Spp1');
- 2. Fishing activities that are relevant to the Welsh context (Excel tabs 'Hab2' and 'Spp2');
- 3. Interactions that are already addressed through fishery management measures, implemented for conservation purposes (Excel tabs 'Hab3' and 'Spp3');
- 4. Interactions that evidence reviews have concluded are lower risk (Excel tabs 'Hab4' and 'Spp4'); and
- 5. Interactions that are unlikely to occur (not carried out for purple risk) (Excel tabs 'Hab5' and 'Spp5').

Each step is described in detail below and shown in the accompanying Excel Matrix file.

On each successive tab of the Excel file, where a risk rating has been adjusted in that step, text is entered into the relevant cell(s). This text is removed in the subsequent step, so each step highlights (by the addition of text) the interactions that have been de-prioritised in that step.

The Excel tabs 'HabFinal' and 'SppFinal' provide the final risk rating prioritisation, and summary text of the reason each interaction was greyed out, deprioritised or adjusted (combined from all previous steps), as appropriate.

3.2.1 Step 1: Features present in Welsh waters

The first step to create the Welsh Matrix involved comparing all component features as provided by Natural Resources Wales against the generic sub-features included within the existing English Matrix. This enabled the Matrix to be tailored the Welsh context. The results for habitat Matrix Features are provided in the Excel tab 'Hab1', and for mobile species in 'Spp1'. Specifically:

- Intertidal and subtidal chalk reefs do not occur in Wales.
- Peat and clay exposures (a Welsh component feature) were not included in the English Matrix generic sub-features, but a relevant proxy habitat would be 'intertidal and subtidal chalk reefs', due to the softness of the substrate. Furthermore, the Marine Life Information Network (MarLIN) groups 'subtidal chalk / peat and clay exposures' together in the Habitats of Principle Importance. Intertidal and subtidal chalk reefs were therefore renamed to 'peat and clay exposures'.
- Harbour porpoise and bottlenose dolphin were added to the Matrix. SACs currently exist for bottlenose dolphin (Cardigan Bay and Pen Llyn ar Sarnau), and possible SACs for harbour porpoise are currently being consulted on.
- Otter (*Lutra lutra*) was added to the matrix as a Matrix Feature.
- The Welsh component feature *Ostrea edulis* beds is not present in Matrix Features, but would be considered either within 'subtidal mixed sediments' as the parent habitat, or 'mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments' as an appropriate proxy.
- The Welsh component feature 'intertidal underboulder communities' is not present in the Matrix Features, but would be considered within 'intertidal boulder and cobble reef'.

The Welsh component features that correspond to each Matrix Feature, and the Matrix Features that may correspond to each Welsh component feature (according to the specific characteristics of individual component features), are provided in Appendix B.

3.2.2 Step 2: Fishing gears currently used in Welsh waters

A review of fishing activities in Wales was undertaken, based on existing evidence sources and confirmed with Welsh Government fishery officers and the Welsh Fishermen's Association (see Appendix C). Fishing gears that are present in the Matrix but which do not currently take place within Welsh waters were therefore de-prioritised. This is indicated in the Matrix by a lighter shade of the original risk rating. Gears that are not operated from a licensed and registered commercial fishing vessel were removed from the Matrix. Scallop dredging was split into dredging for King scallop, and dredging for Queen scallop.

The results for habitat Matrix Features are provided in the Excel tab 'Hab2', and for mobile species Matrix Features in 'Spp2'.

This list should be reviewed periodically to ensure that any new or emerging fishing gears taking place in Welsh waters are taken into account, and can be re-incorporated into the Welsh Matrix if necessary.

3.2.3 Step 3: Fisheries management measures

Existing fishery management measures have been used to prioritise interactions for further assessment where they have not already been addressed through management. The Welsh Government is currently undertaking a marine fisheries legislative review process which the AWFA Project will complement in terms of environmental assessment under Article 6 of the Habitats Directive.

The prioritisation of interactions based on fisheries management measures had two parts:

- Interactions are greyed out where activities are addressed by legislation throughout all Welsh waters and cannot legally occur.
- Interactions are de-prioritised (risk rating shaded lighter) where they are currently addressed through localised legislation but there may still remain the potential to occur in other areas.

The Welsh legislative review process seeks to harmonise and modernise a large number of existing fishery management regimes applicable to Welsh waters (0–12 nm) including EU Regulations, UK legislation and the saved Byelaws from the former Sea Fisheries Committees. These various regimes apply to various geographic limits and for the purpose of this project these are differentiated into inshore (0–6 nm) and offshore (6–12 nm), and those applicable in the north and south. It is likely that some of these areas will have local legislation that is specific to those areas.

A list of relevant fisheries legislation was compiled including Statutory Instruments and Bye-laws. The full list is provided in Appendix D.

The results of this prioritisation step for habitat features are provided in the Excel tab 'Hab3', and for mobile species in 'Spp3'.

3.2.4 Step 4: Additional evidence on risk of impacts

Interactions that evidence reviews have shown to be low risk were de-prioritised. This covered:

- Defra (2015) recommended scoping out assessments of potting on a number of Matrix Features, or scoping out unless there were site-specific concerns.
- Evidence on impact of mobile towed gears on mobile sand (high energy) habitats.

No purple-risk interactions were de-prioritised in this step. The results for habitat Matrix Features are provided in the Excel tab 'Hab4', and for mobile species in 'Spp4'.

3.2.5 Step 5: Likelihood of interactions

Interactions that are unlikely to occur e.g. potting on intertidal habitats, mobile demersal gear on saltmarsh and reedbeds, were de-prioritised based on expert knowledge including input from the Welsh Fishermen's Association and Welsh Government fishery officers. No purple-risk interactions were de-prioritised in this step, due to the risk to the feature should the interaction take place. The results for habitat Matrix Features are provided in the Excel tab 'Hab5', and for mobile species Matrix Features in 'Spp5'.

3.3 Outcome of prioritisation

The outcome of the prioritisation process is shown in Table 1.

Further prioritisation within each category can take place. For example, vessel or gear size and fishing intensity, where known, can provide additional prioritisation.

Table 1.Outcome of prioritisation process

Priority	Interactions		
1	Purple-risk interactions remaining in the Matrix:		
	Habitats		
	 Beam trawl (whitefish), beam trawl (shrimp), multi-rig trawls and light otter trawl 		
	gears on:		
	- Maerl		
	 Peat and clay exposures (except shrimp trawl and light otter trawl) 		
	- Sabellaria spp reef		
	- Seagrass (SACs)		
	 Submarine structures made by leaking gases 		
	 Subtidal reefs (bedrock, boulder and cobble) 		
	- Subtidal mussel bed on rock		
	Mobile Species		
-	None		
2	Purple-risk interactions which were de-prioritised because legislation addresses the		
	interaction in part of Welsh waters		
	Habitats		
	 Queen scallop dredging on: 		
	- Maerl		
	- Sabellaria reef		
	- Seagrass (SACs)		
	 Submarine structures made by leaking gases 		
	 Subtidal reefs (bedrock, boulder and cobble) 		
	Mobile Species		
	 None 		
3	Orange-risk interactions remaining in the Matrix:		
	Habitats		
	Beam trawl (shrimp) and light otter trawl gears on:		
	- Peat and clay exposures		
	 Beam trawl (whitefish), beam trawl (shrimp), multi-rig trawls and light otter trawl 		
	gears on:		
	- Brittlestar beds		

Priority	Interactions
	- Intertidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, mud and
	sand)
	 Mussel beds (on mixed and sandy sediments, on boulder and cobble skears)
	- Subtidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, muddy
	sand)
	- Tideswept communities
	 Fixed nets (gill nets, trammel nets, entangling nets) and drift nets (demersal) on
	remaining orange interactions:
	- Brittlestar beds
	- Estuarine rock
	 Intertidal bedrock reef, intertidal boulder and cobble reef
	- Intertidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, mud and
	Sallu) Kala forest communities
	- Keip lorest communities
	- Musel hods (on mixed and sandy sodiments, on boulder and sobble skears)
	- Peat and clay exposures
	- Sahellaria spo reef
	- Seagrass
	- Submarine structures made by leading gases
	- Subtidal reefs (bedrock, boulder and cobble)
	- Subtidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, mud and
	sand)
	- Subtidal mussel bed on rock
	- Tideswept communities.
	 Longlines (demersal) on remaining orange interactions:
	- Brittlestar beds
	- Estuarine rock
	 Intertidal reefs (bedrock, boulder and cobble)
	- Kelp forest communities
	- Maerl
	- Mussel beds (on mixed and sandy sediments, on boulder and cobble skears)
	- Peat and clay exposures
	- Sabellaria spp reef
	- Seagrass
	- Submarine structures made by leading gases
	Subtidal mussel bod on rock
	- Tideswent communities
	 Seine nets (heach seines/ring nets) on remaining orange interactions;
	- Brittlestar beds
	- intertidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, mud and
	sand)
	- Kelp forest communities
	- Maerl
	- Mussel beds (on mixed and sandy sediments, on boulder and cobble skears)
	- Peat and clay exposures
	- Sabellaria spp reef
	- Seagrass
	- Subtidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, muddy
	sand)

Priority	Interactions
rnonty	Commercial diving on remaining orange interactions:
	- Commercial diving on remaining orange interactions.
	- Kelp forest communities
	- Maerl
	Post and clay exposures
	Sabellaria spp. roof
	Soograss
	- Scaylass
	Subtidal roofs (bodrock, boulder and cobble)
	- Subtidal reers (bedrock, bourder and cobble)
	 Sublidal sea caves Pots (creeks (crustacea/ gastropods) on:
	- Intertidal bedrock reef (where there are site-specific concerns)
	- Maeri (dependent on level of potting intensity)
	 Muscal beds (on mixed and sandy sediment on boulder and cobble skears)
	(where there are site-specific concerns)
	- Peat and clay exposures (where there are site-specific concerns)
	Sabellaria roof (dopondont on lovel of potting intensity)
	- Separass (SACs) (dependent on level of potting intensity)
	- Submarine structures made by leaking dases (where there are site-specific
	concerns)
	Subtidal bodrock roof (where there are site-specific concerns)
	- Subtidal bediock reel (where there are site-specific concerns)
	Mobile Species
	Beam trawl (whitefish) beam trawl (shrimp) multi-rig trawls and light otter trawl
	dears on:
	- Estuarine fish community
	- River and sea lamprev
	- Twaite and Allis shad
	 Scallop dredge (King and Queen) on:
	- Estuarine fish community
	 Pots/creels on:
	- Estuarine fish community
	 Fixed nets (gill nets, trammel nets, entangling nets) on:
	- Benthic feeding seabirds
	- Estuarine birds
	- Pursuit and plunge-diving birds
	- Estuarine fish community
	- River and sea lamprey
	- Twaite and Allis shad
	- Bottlenose dolphin
	- Harbour porpoise
	 Drift nets (demersal) on:
	- Benthic feeding seabirds
	- Pursuit and plunge-diving birds
	- Estuarine fish community
	- River and sea lamprey
	- Twaite and Allis shad
	 Longlines (demersal) on:
	- Surface feeding birds
	- Estuarine fish community

Priority	Interactions
	- River and sea lamprey
	- Twaite and Allis shad
	 Handlines (rod/gurdy) on:
	- Estuarine fish community
	- River and sea lamprev
	- Twaite and Allis shad
	Jigging/trolling on:
	- Estuarine fish community
	- Twaite and Allis shad
	 Beach seines/ring nets on:
	- Estuarine fish community
	- River and sea lamprev
	- Twaite and Allis shad
4	Orange-risk interactions that were de-prioritised because legislation addresses the
	interaction in part of Welsh waters
	Habitats
	Oueen scallop dredging on:
	- Brittlestar beds
	- Coarse sediment (high energy)
	- Intertidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, mud and
	sand, sand (high energy))
	- Mussel beds (on mixed and sandy sediments, on boulder and cobble skears)
	- Subtidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, muddy
	sand, sand (high energy))
	- Subtidal mussel bed on rock
	- Tideswept communities
	Mobile Species
	 None
5	Orange-risk interactions that are unlikely to occur (confirm whether the interaction
	occurs).
	Habitats
	 Beam trawl (whitefish), beam trawl (shrimp), multi-rig trawls, light otter trawls and
	Oueen scallop dredging on:
	- Estuarine rock
	- Intertidal reefs (bedrock, boulder and cobble)
	- Kelp forest communities
	- Reedbeds
	- Saltmarsh spp., Salicornia and seablite
	 Queen scallop dredging also on:
	- Peat and clay exposures
	 Coastal lagoons for the following gears:
	- Pots/creels
	- Fixed nets (gill nets, trammel nets, entangling nets)
	- Drift nets (demersal)
	- Longlines (demersal)
	- Beach seines/ring nets
	$\tilde{\mathbf{z}}$
	 Beach seines/ring nets on:
	- Estuarine rock
	 Intertidal reefs (bedrock, boulder and cobble)

Priority	Interactions
	 Submarine structures made by leaking gases
	 Subtidal reefs (bedrock, boulder and cobble)
	- Subtidal mussel bed on rock
	- Tideswept communities
	Mobile Species
	 None
6	Orange-risk interactions that were de-prioritised because evidence indicates low risk
	or legislation partially addresses the risk
	Habitats
	 Beam trawl (whitefish), beam trawl (shrimp), multi-rig trawls and light otter trawl
	on:
	- Coarse sediment (high energy)
	- Intertidal sand (high energy)
	- Subtidal sand (high energy)
	 Pots/creels on:
	- Habitats indicated in priority 3 for this gear type, where there are not any site-
	specific concerns due to the feature or level of fishing intensity
	- Brittlestar beds
	- Estuarine rock
	- Intertidal boulder and cobble reef
	- Intertidal sediment babitats (gravel and sand mixed sediments, mud, mud and
	sand)
	- Kelp forest communities
	Subtidal boulder and cobble roof
	- Subtidal podicer and cooper reer
	- Sublidal sediment habitals (graver and sand, mixed sediments, mud, muddy
	sand) Tide success to a second sitilities
	- Tideswept communities
	Beam trawi (whitefish), beam trawi (shrimp), multi-rig trawis, light offer trawis on:
	- Salmon
	 Fixed nets (gill nets, trammel nets, entangling nets), drift nets (demersal), longlines
	(demersal), handlines (rod/gurdy), jigging/trolling, and beach seines/ring nets on:
	- Salmon
/	Green-risk interactions
	Habitats
	 Coarse sediment (high energy), intertidal sand (high energy) and subtidal sand
	(high energy) for the following gears:
	- Pots/creels
	- Fixed nets (gill nets, trammel nets, entangling nets)
	- Drift nets (demersal)
	- Longlines (demersal)
	- Beach seines/ring nets
	- Commercial diving
	 Longlines (demersal) for the following additional habitats:
	- Intertidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, mud and
	sand)
	- Subtidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, muddy
	sand)
	 Commercial diving for the following additional habitats:
	- Brittlestar beds
	- Coastal lagoons

Priority	Interactions
	- Estuarine rock
	 Intertidal reefs (bedrock, boulder and cobble)
	- Intertidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, mud and
	sand)
	- Mussel beds (on mixed and sandy sediments, on boulder and cobble skears)
	- Subtidal sediment habitats (gravel and sand, mixed sediments, mud, muddy
	sand)
	 Subtidal mussel bed on rock
	- Tideswept communities
	Mobile Species
	 Beam trawl (whitefish), beam trawl (shrimp), multi-rig trawls, light otter trawls on:
	- Benthic feeding seabirds
	- Estuarine birds
	 Pursuit and plunge diving birds
	- Grey seal
	- Bottlenose dolphin
	- Harbour porpoise
	- Otter
	 Scallop dredging (King/Queen), and dredging for mussels, clams, oysters on:
	- As above, excluding pursuit and plunge diving birds
	 Pots/creels on:
	- Bottlenose dolphin
	- Harbour porpoise
	- Otter
	 Fixed nets (gill nets, trammel nets, entangling nets) on:
	- Surface feeding birds
	- Grey seal
	- Otter
	 Drift nets (demersal) and longlines (demersal) on:
	- Benthic feeding seabirds (except drift nets)
	- Estuarine birds
	- Pursuit and plunge diving birds (except drift nets)
	- Grey seal
	- Bottlehose dolphin
	- Halboul porpoise
	 Otter Handlings (rod (gurdy)) jugging (trolling and beach spings (ring nots on:
	- Frandmines (rod/gurdy), jigging/troning and beach semes/ning nets on.
	- Oley seal Bottlenose dolphin
	Harbour porpoiso
	- Otter (excent jigging/trolling)
	Commercial diving on:
	- Estuarine fish community

4 Evidence Database

An Evidence Database was compiled, to assist with the identification of relevant references for each interaction in the Matrix. This was based on existing evidence compilations, and additional evidence sources were added. The starting point was Natural England's Fisheries Impacts Evidence Database (FIED), which contained references relating to 5,416 gear–feature interactions.

Additional evidence sources were identified from:

- ABPmer (2013) Tools for Appropriate Assessment of Fishing and Aquaculture Activities in Marine and Coastal Natura 2000 Sites. R. 2070. Report for the Marine Institute, Ireland;
- Seafish's Risk Assessment for Sourcing Seafood (RASS)²;
- Defra (2015) Evidence for Management of Potting Impacts on Designated Features. Report prepared by ABPmer, Eno Consulting and Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science for the Marine Biodiversity Impact Evidence Group. Contract reference MMO1086;
- Natural England SPA Toolkit;
- ABPmer & Ichthys Marine (2015). Supporting Risk-Based Assessments of Fisheries in MPAs, Final Report. ABPmer Report No. R.2551. A report produced by ABPmer for National Federation of Fishermen's Organisations, December 2015;
- References provided by NRW;
- Further literature and web searches.

A total of 357 additional potentially-relevant references were identified. These were prioritised for inclusion in the Evidence Database according to the following criteria:

- Not already reviewed and rejected from inclusion in FIED;
- Relates to direct impacts from fishing;
- Possible to clearly identify relevant gear types and assign to Matrix Features (i.e. paper provides sufficient description);
- Relates to gears that are currently active in Wales;
- Relates to an interaction that is purple or orange;
- Primary data or evidence rather than review papers;
- UK or EU-based studies (i.e. relevant to habitats/species in Wales);
- Studies beyond EU, if other criteria are fulfilled.

An additional 72 references were added to the Evidence Database and attributed to 538 relevant gear-feature interactions.

References relating to 'Intertidal and subtidal chalk reef' were reclassified as relating to 'Peat and clay exposures' due to the change in the name of this component feature for the purposes of the Welsh Matrix. When assessing any gear interactions with this habitat, the references should therefore be checked for their validity to peat and clay exposures.

The full list of references included in the Evidence Database, highlighting the additional references that were added through this project is provided in Appendix E.

²

Seafish - Risk Assessment for Sourcing Seafood: www.seafish.org/rass/.

The Evidence Database is structured as follows:

- Notes: Cover page including date, version and description of the file;
- Instructions: Summary of each tab and explanation of fields in the Evidence Database;
- PIVOT-HABITATS: Pivot tables of fishing gears against habitat features;
- PIVOT-SPECIES: Pivot tables of fishing gears against mobile species features;
- Evidence Database: Data on which the pivot tables draw (see below), to identify relevant references for each gear-feature interaction;
- References within EvidDb: List of references included in the Evidence Database.
- All References sourced: List of all the references considered for the Evidence Database, and an indication of whether each is included or not.

Pivot tables are shown for:

- Prioritised Matrix Features and fishing gears;
- All Matrix Features and fishing gears.

The former is to enable quick and easy access to references for relevant interactions for the prioritised assessments. The latter is to enable access to references for any of the gear-feature interactions included in the habitats and species matrices.

The values in each cell of the pivot tables indicate the number of references that have been identified as relevant to that gear-feature interaction. Double-clicking on the number opens a new tab that displays the references for that interaction. When assessments are carried out, these references will be reviewed for their relevance to the specific component features and the characteristics of Welsh fisheries under consideration (e.g. vessel size, gear size, configuration and deployment) in each case, which will influence the conclusions on sensitivity of the feature. Intensity of fishing activity will then be considered in forming the final judgement on potential vulnerability to deterioration or significant disturbance.

Clicking on the 'Tidy up!' button deletes all the additional sheets³ that have been generated by doubleclicking on the pivot tables, returning the Excel workbook to its initial configuration. For the 'Tidy up!' button to work, macros must be enabled.

It will delete tabs with a name starting 'Sheet'. If a tab is renamed, it will not be deleted, unless its name still begins with 'Sheet'.

5 References

ABPmer (2013). Tools for Appropriate Assessment of Fishing and Aquaculture Activities in Marine and Coastal Natura 2000 Sites. ABP Marine Environmental Research Ltd, Report No. R. 2070. Report for the Marine Institute, Ireland.

ABPmer & Ichthys Marine (2015). Supporting Risk-Based Assessments of Fisheries in MPAs, Final Report. ABP Marine Environmental Research Ltd, Report No. R.2551. A report for National Federation of Fishermen's Organisations, December 2015.

Defra (2015). Evidence for Management of Potting Impacts on Designated Features. Report prepared by ABP Marine Environmental Research, Eno Consulting and Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science for the Marine Biodiversity Impact Evidence Group. Contract reference MMO1086.

MMO (2014). Matrix of fisheries gear types and European marine site protected features. Fisheries in EMS Matrix – Generic fisheries template. Available online at https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/310811/matrix.xls. Accessed 28.01.2016.

Natural England (2015) SPA Toolkit. Dated 08.12.2015. Natural England.

Seafish (no date). Risk Assessment for Sourcing Seafood website: www.seafish.org/rass/.

6 Abbreviations/Acronyms

ABPmer	ABP Marine Environmental Research Ltd
AFBI	Agri-Food and Biosciences Institute
AWFA	Assessing Welsh Fishing Activities
BAP	Biodiversity Action Plan
CCW	Countryside Council for Wales
CJEU	The Court of Justice of the European Union
Defra	Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
EU	European Union
EMS	European Marine Site
EUNIS	European Nature Information System
FIED	Fisheries Impacts Evidence Database
FMM	FishMap Môn
HRA	Habitats Regulation Assessment
mSAC	Marine Special Area of Conservation
MarLIN	Marine Life Information Network
MCZ	Marine Conservation Zone
ММО	Marine Management Organisation
MPA	Marine Protected Area
NERC	Natural Environment Research Council
N2K	Natura 2000
nm	Nautical Mile
NERC	Natural Environment Research Council
NRW	Natural Resources Wales
NWNW SFC	North Western & North Wales Sea Fisheries Committee
OSPAR	Oslo-Paris Convention
pSAC	possible Special Area of Conservation
pSPA	potential Special Protection Area
Ramsar	Wetlands of international importance, designated under The Convention on Wetlands
	(Ramsar, Iran, 1971)
RASS	Risk Assessment for Sourcing Seafood
SAC	Special Area of Conservation
SEPA	Scottish Environmental Protection Agency
SFC	Sea Fisheries Committee
SPA	Special Protection Area
spp	Species
UK	United Kingdom
WG	Welsh Government

Cardinal points/directions are used unless otherwise stated.

SI units are used unless otherwise stated.



Appendices

A Final Prioritisation Matrix

Fishing Gear Group	Matrix Features Gear Type	Annual vegetation of driftlines	Brittlestar beds	Coarse sediment (high energy)	Coastal lagoons	Estuarine rock (boulder, cobble and	Intertidal bedrock reef	Intertidal boulder and cobble reef	Intertidal gravel and sand	Intertidal mixed sediments	Intertidal mud	Intertidal mud and sand	Intertidal sand (high energy)	Intertidal sea caves	Kelp forest communities	Maerl	Mussel beds on mixed and sandy	Mussel bed on boulder and cobble skears	Peat and clay exposures	Reedbeds	Sabellaria spp reef	Saltmarsh spp, Salicornia and Seablite	Seagrass (SACs)	Submarine structures made by leaking gases	Subtidal bedrock reef	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef	Subtidal gravel and sand	Subtidal mixed sediments	Subtidal mud	Subtidal muddy sand	Subtidal mussel bed on rock	Subtidal sand (high energy)	Subtidal sea caves	Tideswept communities
	Beam trawl (whitefish)		3	6		5	5	5	3	3	3	3	6		5	1	3	3	1	5	1	5	1	1	1	1	3	3	3	3	1	6		3
Towed (demersal)	Beam trawl (shrimp)		3	6		5	5	5	3	3	3	3	6		5	1	3	3	3	5	1	5	1	1	1	1	3	3	3	3	1	6		3
(active bal)	Multi-rig trawls		3	6		5	5	5	3	3	3	3	6		5	1	3	3	1	5	1	5	1	1	1	1	3	3	3	3	1	6		3
	Light otter trawl		3	6		5	5	5	3	3	3	3	6		5	1	3	3	3	5	1	5	1	1	1	1	3	3	3	3	1	6		3
Scallo	Scallops (King)																																	
Dredges	Scallops (Queen)		4	4		5	5	5	4	4	4	4	4		5	2	4	4	5	5	2	5	2	2	2	2	4	4	4	4	4	4		4
(towed)	Mussels, clams, oysters																																	
Static - pots/traps	Pots/creels (crustacea/ gastropods)		6	7	5	6	3	6	6	6	6	6	7		6	3	3	3	3		3		3	3	3	6	6	6	6	6	3	7		6
⁴ Static -	Gill nets		3	7	5	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7		3	3	3	3	3		3		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7		3
fixed nets	Trammels		3	7	5	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7		3	3	3	3	3		3		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7		3
inted field	Entangling		3	7	5	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7		3	3	3	3	3		3		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7		3
Passive - nets	Drift nets (demersal)		3	7	5	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7		3	3	3	3	3		3		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7		3
Lines	Longlines (demersal)		3	7	5	3	3	3	7	7	7	7	7		3	3	3	3	3		3		3	3	3	3	7	7	7	7	3	7		3
Seine nets and other	Beach seines/ ring nets		3	7	5	5	5	5	3	3	3	3	7		3	3	3	3	3		3		3	5	5	5	3	3	3	3	5	7		5
Miscell- aneous	Commercial diving		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	3	3	3	7	7	3		3		3	3	3	3	7	7	7	7	7	7	3	7

⁴ Colours and Numbers in cells are fully explained in risk prioritisation (section 2.6) and outcome of prioritisation (section 3.3) and are summarised as follows: 1 (Purple) - High risk interactions remaining in the Matrix; 2 (Pale Purple) - High risk interactions which were de-prioritised because legislation addresses the interaction in part of Welsh waters; 3 (Orange) - medium risk interactions remaining in the Matrix; 4 (Pale Orange) - medium risk interactions that were de-prioritised because legislation addresses the interaction in part of Welsh waters; 5 (Pale Orange) - Medium-risk interactions that are unlikely to occur; 6 (Pale Orange) - Medium risk interactions that were de-prioritised because evidence indicates low risk or legislation partially addresses the risk; 7 (Green) - Low risk interactions; Blue - No risk of interaction.

A.2 Mobile Species

Fishing Gear Group	Matrix Features Gear Type	B_Benthic feeding seabirds	B_Estuarine Birds	B_Pursuit and plunge diving birds	B_Surface feeding birds	F_Estuarine fish community	F_River and sea lamprey	F_Salmon	F_Twaite and Allis shad	M_Grey seal	M_Bottlenos e dolphin	M_Harbour porpoise	M_Otter <i>Lutra lutra</i>
	Beam trawl (whitefish)	7	7	7		3	3	6	3	7	7	7	7
Towed	Beam trawl (shrimp)	7	7	7		3	3	6	3	7	7	7	7
(demersal)	Multi-rig trawls	7	7	7		3	3	6	3	7	7	7	7
	Light otter trawl	7	7	7		3	3	6	3	7	7	7	7
Duadaaa	Scallops (King)	7	7			3				7	7	7	7
Dreages	Scallops (Queen)	7	7			3				7	7	7	7
(towed)	Mussels, clams, oysters	7	7							7	7	7	7
Static - pots/traps	Pots/creels (crustacea/gastropods)					3					7	7	7
	Gill nets	3	3	3	7	3	3	6	3	7	3	3	7
Static - fixed	Trammels	3	3	3	7	3	3	6	3	7	3	3	7
nets	Entangling	3	3	3	7	3	3	6	3	7	3	3	7
Passive - nets	Drift nets (demersal)	3	7	3		3	3	6	3	7	7	7	7
	Longlines (demersal)	7	7	7	3	3	3	6	3	7	7	7	7
Lines	Handlines (rod/gurdy)					3	3	6	3	7	7	7	7
	Jigging/trolling					3		6	3	7	7	7	
Seine nets and other	Beach seines/ring nets					3	3	6	3	7	7	7	7
Miscellaneous	Commercial diving					7							

5

⁵ Colours and Numbers in cells are fully explained in risk prioritisation (section 2.6) and outcome of prioritisation (section 3.3) and are summarised as follows: 1 (Purple) - High risk interactions remaining in the Matrix; 2 (Pale Purple) - High risk interactions which were de-prioritised because legislation addresses the interaction in part of Welsh waters; 3 (Orange) - medium risk interactions remaining in the Matrix; 4 (Pale Orange) - medium risk interactions that were de-prioritised because legislation addresses the interaction in part of Welsh waters; 5 (Pale Orange) - Medium-risk interactions that are unlikely to occur; 6 (Pale Orange) - Medium risk interactions that were de-prioritised because evidence indicates low risk or legislation partially addresses the risk; 7 (Green) - Low risk interactions; Blue - No risk of interaction.

B Features Present in Welsh Sites

The following tables show the correspondence between the Matrix Features and Welsh component features:

- List of Matrix Features and relevant Welsh component features (Table B.1.
- List of Welsh component features and relevant Matrix Features (Table B.2).

There may be additional Matrix Features and component features that relate to each, depending on the specific characteristics of the feature or component feature.

Table B.3 shows the correspondence between Matrix Features and FishMap Mon habitats.

 Table B.1
 Matrix features and corresponding Welsh component features

Matrix Feature	Corresponding Welsh Component Features
Habitats	
Annual vegetation of driftlines	
Brittlestar beds	
Coarse sediment (high energy)	Littoral coarse sediment (A2.1)
	Sublittoral coarse sediment (A5.1)
Coastal lagoons	
Estuarine rock (boulder, cobble and bedrock)	Estuarine rocky habitats
Intertidal bedrock reef	High energy littoral rock (A1.1)
	Intertidal Underboulder Communities
	Low energy littoral rock (A1.3)
	Moderate energy littoral rock (A1.2)
Intertidal boulder and cobble reef	High energy littoral rock (A1.1)
	Intertidal Underboulder Communities
	Low energy littoral rock (A1.3)
	Moderate energy littoral rock (A1.2)
Intertidal gravel and sand	Littoral coarse sediment (A2.1)
Intertidal mixed sediments	Littoral mixed sediments (A2.4)
	Sheltered muddy gravels
Intertidal mud	Intertidal mudflats
	Littoral mud (A2.3)
Intertidal mud and sand	Littoral sand and muddy sand (A2.2)
Intertidal sand (high energy)	Littoral sand and muddy sand (A2.2)
Intertidal sea caves	
Kelp forest communities	Sublittoral macrophyte-dominated sediment (A5.5)
Maerl	Maerl
	Sublittoral macrophyte-dominated sediment (A5.5)
Mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments	Blue mussel beds
	Horse mussel (Modiolus modiolus) beds
	Mussel beds
	Littoral biogenic reets (A2.7)
	Subilitoral biogenic reels (AS.6)
Mussel had on boulder and selable skears	Ostrea edutis beds
Mussel bed on boulder and cobble skears	Musculus discors beds
	Blue mussel beds
	Horse mussel (Modiolus modiolus) beds
	Mussel heds
Peat and clav exposures	Peat and clay exposures
Reedbeds	Coastal saltmarshes and saline reedbeds (A2.5)
Sabellaria spp reef	Littoral biogenic reefs (A2.7)
	Sabellaria alveolata reef
	Sabellaria spinulosa reefs
	Sublittoral biogenic reefs (A5.6)

Matrix Feature	Corresponding Welsh Component Features
Saltmarsh spp, Salicornia and Seablite	Coastal saltmarshes and saline reedbeds (A2.5)
Seagrass (SACs)	Littoral sediments dominated by aquatic angiosperms (A2.6)
	Seagrass beds
	Sublittoral macrophyte-dominated sediment (A5.5)
Submarine structures made by leaking gases	Carbonate reef
Subtidal bedrock reef	Atlantic and Mediterranean high energy circalittoral rock (A4.1)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean high energy infralittoral rock (A3.1)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean low energy circalittoral rock (A4.3)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean low energy infrailttoral rock (A3.3)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean moderate energy circalittoral rock (A4.2)
	Fragile sponge & anthozoan communities on subtidal rocky babitats
	Musculus discors beds
Subtidal boulder and cobble reef	Sublittoral macrophyte-dominated sediment (A5.5)
	Musculus discors beds
	Atlantic and Mediterranean high energy circalittoral rock (A4.1)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean high energy infralittoral rock (A3.1)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean low energy circalittoral rock (A4.3)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean low energy infralittoral rock (A3.3)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean moderate energy circalittoral rock (A4.2)
	Atlantic and Mediterranean moderate energy infralittoral rock (A3.2)
	Fragile sponge & anthozoan communities on subtidal rocky habitats
	Sublittoral mixed sediments (A5.4)
Subtidal gravel and sand	Sublittoral coarse sediment (A5.1)
	Sublittoral sand (A5.2)
Subtidal mixed sediments	Ostrea eaulis beds Sublittoral mixed codiments (AE 4)
	Subtidal mixed muddy sediments
Subtidal mud	Mud habitats in deep water
	Seapens and burrowing megafauna
	Sublittoral mud (A5.3)
Subtidal muddy sand	Sublittoral sand (A5.2)
Subtidal mussel bed on rock	Musculus discors beds
	Mussel beds
Subtidal sand (high energy)	Sublittoral sand (A5.2)
Subtidal sea caves	
lideswept communities	lide swept channels
Fortuaring fich community	Migraton, fich species
	River Jamprey (Lamprata fluviatilis)
River and sea lamprey	Sea Jamprey (Petromyzon marinus)
Salmon	Atlantic salmon Salmo salar
	Allis shad (Alosa alosa)
I waite and Allis shad	Twaite shad (Alosa fallax)
	Bar-tailed godwit Limosa lapponica
	Black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa islandica
	Chough Pyrrhocorax pyrrhocorax
	Common greenshank Tringa nebularia
	Common redshank Tringa totanus totanus
	Curlew Numenius arquata
	Dunlin Caliaris alpina alpina
	Eurasian öystercatcher Haematopus östralegus
Ectuarina Birda	Grey plover Pluvialis squalarola
	Furasian wideon
	Shelduck Tadorna tadorna
	Teal Anas crecca
	Gadwall Anas strepera
	Pintail Anas acuta
	European white-fronted goose Anser albifrons albifrons
	Greater white fronted goose
	Bewick's Swan Cygnus bewickii

Matrix Feature	Corresponding Welsh Component Features						
	Common scoter Melanitta nigra						
	Red breasted merganser						
Benthic feeding seabirds	Northern shoveler Anas clypeata						
ithic feeding seabirds suit and plunge diving birds face feeding birds	Great crested grebe						
	Atlantic Puffin						
	Cormorant						
Pursuit and plunge diving birds	Manx Shearwater (Puffinus puffinus)						
	Northern gannet						
	Red-throated diver Gavia stellata						
	Arctic tern						
	Common tern Sterna hirundo						
	European storm-petrel						
Surface feeding hirds	Lesser black-backed gull						
Surface recurring birds	Little Gull						
	Little tern Sterna albifrons						
	Roseate tern						
	Sandwich tern Sterna sandvicensis						
Grey Seal	Grey seal Halichoerus grypus						
Bottlenose dolphin	Bottlenose dolphin Tursiops truncates						
Harbour porpoise	Harbour porpoise						
Otter Lutra lutra	Otter Lutra lutra						

Table B.2 Welsh component features and corresponding Matrix Features

Welsh Component Features	Corresponding Matrix Features
Habitats	
Atlantic and Mediterranean high energy circulitteral rock (A4.1)	Subtidal bedrock reef
	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef
Atlantic and Mediterranean high energy infralittoral rock (A3.1)	Subtidal bedrock reef
	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef
Atlantic and Mediterranean low energy circalittoral rock (A4.3)	Subtidal bedrock reef
······································	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef
Atlantic and Mediterranean low energy infralittoral rock (A3.3)	Subtidal bedrock reef
Atlantic and Mediterranean moderate energy circulitteral rack	Subtidal bodrack roof
(A4 2)	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef
Atlantic and Mediterranean moderate energy infralittoral rock	Subtidal bedrock reef
(A3.2)	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef
	Mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments
Blue mussel beds	Mussel bed on boulder and cobble skears
Carbonate reef	Submarine structures made by leaking gases
Coastal saltmarshes and saline reedbeds ($\Delta 2.5$)	Saltmarsh spp, Salicornia and Seablite
	Reedbeds
Estuarine rocky habitats	Estuarine rock (boulder, cobble and bedrock)
Fragile sponge & anthozoan communities on subtidal rocky	Subtidal bedrock reef
habitats	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef
High energy littoral rock (A1.1)	Intertidal bedrock reef
	Intertidal boulder and cobble reet
Horse mussel (Modiolus modiolus) beds	Mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments
Intertidal mudflate	Mussel bed on boulder and cobble skears
	Intertidal hadrock roof
Intertidal Underboulder Communities	Intertidal boulder and cobble reef
	Sahellaria son reef
Littoral biogenic reefs (A2.7)	Mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments
	Coarse sediment (high energy)
Littoral coarse sediment (A2.1)	Intertidal gravel and sand
Littoral mixed sediments (A2.4)	Intertidal mixed sediments
Littoral mud (A2.3)	Intertidal mud
Littoral sand and muddy sand (A2.2)	Intertidal mud and sand
Littoral sediments dominated by aquatic angiosperms (A2.6)	Seagrass (SACs)
Low energy littoral rock (A1 3)	Intertidal bedrock reef
	Intertidal boulder and cobble reef
Maerl	Maerl
Moderate energy littoral rock (A1.2)	Intertidal bedrock reef
	Intertidal boulder and cobble reet
Mud habitats in deep water	Subtidal mud
Musculus discors hods	Subtidal bodrock roof
	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef
	Mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments
Mussel beds	Mussel bed on boulder and cobble skears
	Subtidal mixed sediments
Ostrea edulis beds	Mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments (proxy)
Peat and clay exposures	Intertidal and subtidal chalk reefs (proxy)
Sabellaria alveolata reef	Sabellaria spp reef
Sabellaria spinulosa reefs	Sabellaria spp reef
Seagrass beds	Seagrass (SACs)
Seapens and burrowing megafauna	Subtidal mud
Sheltered muddy gravels	Intertidal mixed sediments
	Sabellaria spp reef
Sublittoral biogenic reefs (A5.6)	Mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments
	Mussel bed on boulder and cobble skears
Sublittoral coarse sediment (A5.1)	Subtidal gravel and sand
· · · ·	Coarse sediment (high energy)

Welsh Component Features	Corresponding Matrix Features
Weish Component reatures	
	Sedylass (SACS)
Sublittoral macrophyte-dominated sediment (A5.5)	Maarl
	Subtidal boulder and cobble reef
	Subtidal boulder and cobble reer
Sublittoral mixed sediments (A5.4)	Subtidal mixed sediments
Sublittoral mud (A5.3)	Subtidal bodider and cobble reer
	Subtidal mod
Sublittoral sand (A5.2)	Subtidal sand (high energy)
Subtidal mixed muddy sediments	Subtidal mixed sediments
Tide swent channels	Tideswent communities
Mobile species	ndeswept communities
Allis shad (Alosa alosa)	Twaite and Allis shad
Twaite shad (Alosa fallax)	Twaite and Allis shad
Atlantic salmon Salmo salar	Salmon
Migratory fish species	Estuarine fish community
River Jamprey (Lampreta fluviatilis)	River and sea lamprev
Sea Jamprey (Petromyzon marinus)	River and sea lamprey
Bottlenose dolphin Tursions truncatus	Bottlenose dolphin
Grev seal Halichoerus annus	Grev seal
Otter Lutra Lutra	Otter Lutra Lutra
Harbour porpoise	Harbour porpoise
Arctic tern	Surface feeding birds
Common torn Storng hirundo	Surface feeding birds
European storm patrol	Surface feeding birds
Losser black backed gull	Surface feeding birds
	Surface feeding birds
Little dun	Surface feeding birds
Deseate terr	Surface feeding birds
Roseale lenn	Surface feeding birds
Sandwich tern sternd sandvicensis	Surface feeding birds
Bar-tailed godwit Limona limona idendia	Estuarine birds
Chough Purchagaray purchagaray	Estuarine birds
Common groopshank Tringg nobularia	Estuarine birds
Common redebank Tringe tetenus	
	Estuarine birds
Curlew Numerius arguata	Estuarine birds
	Estuarine birds
Eurasian oystercatcher Huernatopus ostrategus	Estuarine birds
Grey plover Pluvialis squatarola	Estuarine birds
	Estuarine birds
Eurasian wigeon	Estuarine birds
	Estuarine birds
	Estuarine birds
Gadwall Anas strepera	Estuarine birds
	Estuarine birds
European white-fronted goose Anser albifrons albifrons	Estuarine birds
Greater white fronted goose	Estuarine birds
Bewick's Swan Cygnus bewickli	Estuarine birds
	Pursuit and plunge diving birds
Cormorant	Pursuit and plunge diving birds
iviarix Snearwater (Puminus puminus)	Pursuit and plunge diving birds
Northern gannet	Pursuit and plunge diving birds
Rea-throated diver Gavia stellata	Pursuit and plunge diving birds
Common scoter Melanitta nigra	Benthic feeding seabirds
Ked breasted merganser	Benthic feeding seabirds
Northern shoveler Anas clypeata	Benthic feeding seabirds
Great crested grebe	Benthic feeding seabirds

Table B.3Matrix Features and corresponding FishMap Môn Habitats	Table B.3	Matrix Features and corresponding FishMap Môn Habitats
---	-----------	--

Matrix Feature	Corresponding FMM Habitats
Annual vegetation of driftlines	
Brittlestar beds	
Coarse sediment (high energy)	29 Unstable coarse sediments, robust fauna
Coastal lagoons	
Estuarine rock (boulder, cobble and bedrock)	7 Sheltered bedrock, boulders & cobbles
Intertidal bedrock reef	2 Wave exposed intertidal stable rock.
	3 Moderately wave exposed intertidal rock.
	1 Upper shore stable, rock, lichens and algal crusts
Intertidal boulder and cobble reef	7 Sheltered bedrock, boulders and cobbles
	26 Low shore and shallow subtidal under boulder and cobbles
	(intertidal underboulder communities)
Intertidal gravel and sand	
Intertidal mixed sediments	28 Stable species; rich, mixed sediments
Intertidal mud	12 Intertidal muds
Intertidal mud and sand	10 Muddy sands excluding gaper clams
	11 Muddy sands including gaper clams
Intertidal sand (high energy)	
Intertidal sea caves	8 Rockpools and overhangs
Kelp forest communities	22 Shallow subtidal rock with kelp
	23 Kelp and seaweeds on sand scoured rock
Maerl	17 Maerl beds
Mussel beds on mixed and sandy sediments	27 Biogenic reef on sediment
Mussel bed on boulder and cobble skears	4 Seaweeds and mussels on moderately exposed rock
Peat and clay exposures	5 Mussels and piddocks on intertidal clay & peat
Reedbeds	
Sabellaria spp reef	6 Honeycomb worm reefs
Saltmarsh spp, Salicornia and Seablite	13 Salt marshes
Seagrass (SACs)	30 Seagrass beds
Submarine structures made by leaking gases	
Subtidal bedrock reef	14 Vertical rock with associated species
	15 Erect & branching species, very slow growing
	20 Rock with low-lying, fast-growing faunal turf
	21 Rock with erect and branching species
Subtidal boulder and cobble reef	15 Erect & branching species, very slow growing
	20 Rock with low-lying, fast-growing faunal turf
	21 Rock with erect and branching species
	22 Shallow subtidal rock with kelp
Subtidal gravel and sand	16 Sand and gravel (incl with long lived bivalves)
	18 Stable subtidal fine sands
Subtidal mixed sediments	28 Stable species rich, mixed sediments
	25 Oyster beds
Subtidal mud	19 Stable muddy sands, sandy muds and muds
Subtidal muddy sand	19 Stable muddy sands, sandy muds and muds
Subtidal mussel bed on rock	4 Seaweeds and mussels on moderately exposed rock
Subtidal sand (high energy)	24 Dynamic, shallow water fine sands
Subtidal sea caves	
Tideswept communities	31 Stable but tideswept cobbles, pebbles and gravel

C Fishing Gears Currently Used in Welsh Waters

Fishing Gear Group	Fishing Gear Type	Definition of Gear Type	Equivalent Welsh Activity Identified in Literature	Source (Specific Gear Type*) (See Reference List Below)	Currently undertaken Commercially in Welsh Waters? (Y/N)	Gear Operated From Licensed and Registered Commercial Fishing Vessel?	Notes - Information on Whether Occurring or not, Additional Clarifications etc
Towed (demersal)	Beam trawl (whitefish)	Trawl towed on the seabed in which the net is held open by a wood or steel beam	Beam trawl	1, 3, 4, 5, 8, 10, 12	Y	Y	
	Beam trawl (shrimp)		Shrimp trawl	1, 10	Y	Y	
	Beam trawl (pulse/wing)	Innovative new whitefish beam trawl method using electric current. Wing: uses sumwing and tickler chains to fish for whitefish			Ν	Y	WG pers. comm.
	Heavy otter trawl	Trawl towed on the seabed, held open by a pair of otter boards (trawl doors). Typically allows greater ground cover than a beam trawl. There are a wide variety of otter trawl varieties depending upon the nature of the ground to be fished and the target species. This includes light and heavy otter trawl designs. Heavy otter trawls include rock-hopper ground rope designs.	Otter trawl (not specified as heavy)	1, 10, 12	N (heavy otter trawl)	Y	WG pers. comm. (heavy otter trawl / no rockhopper trawls)
	Multi-rig trawls	Method of towing two or more otter trawls side by side	Twin rig trawl	1	Y	Y	
	Light otter trawl	See above	Light otter trawl	1, 2, 10	Y	Υ	
	Pair trawl	Trawl towed between two boats, either on the seabed or in mid-water, held open by the distance apart of the two vessels. Covers small areas of hard seabed and can cover a swept area of 250 to 450 metres between boats with/without otter boards (trawl doors)	Demersal pair trawl	1	N	Y	WG pers. comm.
	Anchor seine	An encircling net shot in the open sea using very long ropes to lay out the net and ropes on the seabed prior to hauling from a boat at anchor	Danish seine netting	1	Ν	Y	WG pers. comm. Prohibited in [former] North Wales SFC area
	Scottish/fly seine	An encircling net shot in the open sea using very long ropes to lay out the net and ropes on the seabed prior to towing the net closed and hauling from a boat under its own power. Sometimes called fly dragging, fly shooting or Danish seine	Scottish fly seine netting	1	N	Y	WG pers. comm. Prohibited in [former] North Wales SFC area

Fishing Gear Group	Fishing Gear Type	Definition of Gear Type	Equivalent Welsh Activity Identified in Literature	Source (Specific Gear Type*) (See Reference List Below)	Currently undertaken Commercially in Welsh Waters? (Y/N)	Gear Operated From Licensed and Registered Commercial Fishing Vessel?	Notes - Information on Whether Occurring or not, Additional Clarifications etc
Towed (pelagic)	Mid-water trawl (single)	Trawl towed by one vessel using a set of midwater doors to open the net horizontally. The position within the water column is controlled by the speed of the vessel and the amount of weight on the wing ends.	Pelagic trawling	1, 12	N	Y	WG pers. comm.
	Mid-water trawl (pair)	As above but towed by two vessels	Pelagic pair trawling	1	Ν	Y	WG/NRW pers. comm.
	Industrial trawls	Small mesh towed net used to catch fish (such as sandeels, blue whiting or horse mackerel) for purposes other than human consumption	Industrial trawls?		N	Y	WG pers. comm.
Dredges (towed)	Scallops (King)	[Definition for 'Dredge':] Rigid structure towed on the seabed usually for shellfish	Scallop dredge (teeth)	1, 2, 6, 7, 9, 10, 12	Y	Y	
	Scallops (Queen)	[Definition for 'Dredge':] Rigid structure towed on the seabed usually for shellfish	Scallop dredge (blade)		Y	Y	
	Mussels, clams, oysters	[Definition for 'Dredge':] Rigid structure towed on the seabed usually for shellfish	Mussel dredging (wild fishery) Oyster dredging (wild fishery)	1, 8	Y	Y	
	Pump scoop (cockles, clams)	Small shallow drafted boats tow or drag metal baskets along the seabed to collect cockles and clams			N	Y	WG pers. comm.
Dredges (other)	Suction (cockles)	Use of hydraulic dredger to collect cockles	Hydraulic suction dredging	1, 10	N	Y	WG/NRW pers. comm.
	Tractor		Tractor dredging	7	Ν	Ν	WG pers. comm.
Intertidal handwork	Hand working	Use of hand, rakes and buckets to collect shellfish usually at low tide, accessed from shore or by boat	Professional hand gathering	1, 2, 10, 12	Y	N	
Static - pots/traps	Pots/creels (crustacea/ gastropods)	[Definition for 'Traps':] A collective term for structures into which fish or shellfish are guided or enticed through funnels that encourage entry but limit escape. Pots, creels, cuttle pots, fish trap, and so on.	Potting (inkwellpots, parlour pots, prawn pots, whelk pots)	1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12	Y	Y	
	Cuttle pots	See above	Cuttle pots	11, 12	Ν	Y	WG pers. comm.
	Fish traps	See above			N	Y	WG pers. comm.
Static - fixed nets	Gill nets	Single wall of netting which can either be fixed or allowed to drift. They catch fish by enmeshing or entangling them usually around their gill covers	Gill nets (surface set, bottom set, beach set)	1, 6, 7, 12	Y	Y	
	Trammels	Consists of three parallel panels of nets with different mesh sizes which can be used to catch a much wider variety of species	Trammel nets	1, 7	Y	Y	

Fishing Gear Group	Fishing Gear Type	Definition of Gear Type	Equivalent Welsh Activity Identified in Literature	Source (Specific Gear Type*) (See Reference List Below)	Currently undertaken Commercially in Welsh Waters? (Y/N)	Gear Operated From Licensed and Registered Commercial Fishing Vessel?	Notes - Information on Whether Occurring or not, Additional Clarifications etc
	Entangling	Nets with large meshes set on the seabed to capture shellfish and large whitefish such as monk, ray and turbot (also known as ray nets)	Tangle nets	1, 6, 7, 12	Y	Y	
Passive - nets	Drift nets (pelagic)	Panel of gill nets set perpendicular to the surface, allowed to drift with the tide or current to catch fish [targeting fish in the water column rather than on the seafloor]	Drift nets (pelagic)	1, 6, 7, 12	N	Y	WG pers. comm.
	Drift nets (demersal)	Panel of gill nets set perpendicular to the surface, allowed to drift with the tide or current to catch fish [targeting fish on the seafloor]			Y	Y	
Lines	Longlines (demersal)	Longlines that can be anchored or drifting, comprising backing lines, of variable lengths, to which are attached a series of baited hooks on snoods	Longlines	1, 6, 7, 10, 11, 12	Y	Y	Long lining limited to a few areas. Trot lines (beach set long lines). WG/NRW pers. comm.
	Longlines (pelagic)	Longlines that can be anchored or drifting, comprising backing lines, of variable lengths, to which are attached a series of baited hooks on snoods			N	Y	WG pers. comm.
	Handlines (rod/gurdy)	Fishing with a single fishing line by hand. Handlines is also a term used for 'gurdy' fishing for mackerel (a large hand operated reel)	Handlining / Commercial rod and line	1, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12	Y	Y	
	Jigging/trolling	Jigging is a type of fishing with a rod or machine and is a type of fishing lure. A sinker with hooks on a single or multiple lines is jerked to attract many species of fish in both fresh and saltwater. Trolling is a method of towing artificial lures to attract fish	Jigging	1, 10, 12	Y	Y	
Seine nets and other	Purse seine	A large net used to surround a shoal of pelagic fish, the bottom of which is then drawn together to enclose them	Purse Seine	12	N	Y	WG/NRW pers. comm.
	Beach seines/ring nets	An encircling net shot from a small boat then drawn ashore by ropes. This is sometimes called a dragnet. Ring net is a net operated by surrounding a shoal of pelagic fish with a 'wall' of netting, often operated by two boats. Works in a similar manner to a purse seine.	Beach seine	1, 10	Y	Y	

Fishing Gear Group	Fishing Gear Type	Definition of Gear Type	Equivalent Welsh Activity Identified in Literature	Source (Specific Gear Type*) (See Reference List Below)	Currently undertaken Commercially in Welsh Waters? (Y/N)	Gear Operated From Licensed and Registered Commercial Fishing Vessel?	Notes - Information on Whether Occurring or not, Additional Clarifications etc
	Shrimp push-nets	A triangular shape net with a wooden or metal frame used to collect shrimp. A handle is attached to the frame and pushed along the surface of sand in order to collect the shrimp.	Shrimp push net	1	Y	N	
	Fyke and stakenets	Fyke net is a conical shaped trap net with a circular or D-shaped opening often with a guide panel/s of netting often used to catch eels. Stake net is a net fixed by stakes generally in rivers or where the sea ebbs and flows in shallow intertidal zones	Fyke and stake nets	12	Ŷ	N	
Miscellaneous	Commercial diving	Diving for commercial profit (such a rig divers or armed forces divers, scientists and those diving to fish/collect)			Y	Y	NRW pers. comm. (RS)
	Bait dragging	Rake is towed along the mudflats from a boat to gather worms			Ν	Y	WG pers. comm.
	Crab tiling		Peeler crab traps?	1	Y	Ν	
Bait collection	Digging with forks	Fork, spade or bait pump are used to collect bait for fishing	Soft substrate (digging)	1	Y	N	WG pers. comm. Does not occur commercially.

* Sources in which the specific gear type was referred to (e.g. trammel nets, tangle nets) as opposed to generic gear types (e.g. static nets).

References

- 1 Hall, K., Paramor, O.A.L., Robinson, L.A., Winrow-Giffin, A., Frid, C.L.J., Eno, N.C., Dernie, K.M., Sharp, R.A.M., Wyn, G.C., Ramsay, K. 2008. mapping the sensitivity of benthic habitats to fishing in Welsh Waters development of a protocol. CCW, Policy Research Report No: [8/12], 85pp.
- 2 FishMap Môn. Natural Resources Wales website
- 3 Welsh Government, 2015. Wales' Marine Evidence Report.
- 4 Welsh Government, 2014. Wales Marine and Fisheries: Strategic Action Plan Update.
- 5 Welsh Government, 2013. Wales Marine and Fisheries: Strategic Action Plan. November 2013.
- 6 Welsh Government, 2008. Wales Fisheries Strategy. 2008.
- 7 Pantin, J.R., Murray, L. G., Hinz, H., Le Vay, L. and Kaiser, M. J., 2015. The Inshore Fisheries of Wales: a study based on fishers' ecological knowledge. Fisheries & Conservation report No. 42, Bangor University. Pp.60
- 8 Eno, N.C., Frid, C.L.J., Hall, K., Ramsay, K., Sharp, R.A.M., Brazier, D.P., Hearn, S., Dernie, K.M., Robinson, K.A., Paramore, O.A.L, Robinson, L.A. 2013. Assessing the sensitivity of habitats to fishing: from seabed maps to sensitivity maps.
- 9 Woolmer, A. 2009. National Shellfish Resource Base: Cost-effective and efficient methodology to map inshore <10 m shellfish fleet. Report to Shellfish Industry Development Strategy. May 2009.
- 10 Sea Fishing Atlas (layers on Welsh Marine Planning Portal, based on Countryside Council for Wales, 2010. The Sea Fishing Atlas of Wales?)
- 11 Cardigan Bay Fisherman's Association
- 12 Walmsley, S.A. and Pawson, M.G. 2007. The coastal fisheries of England and Wales, Part V: a review of their status 2005-6. Science Series, Technical Report no. 140. NB review only part completed further to post Inception Report telecom

D Fisheries Management Measures

Ref no	Legislation	Description	Relevant Influence on Gear/Feature Interactions	Additional Note(s)
L1	The Scallop Fishing (Wales) (No. 2) Order 2010	The Scallop Fishing (Wales) (No. 2) Order 2010 manages the scallop fishery throughout Wales and includes technical (i.e. type and quantity of gear etc), temporal (i.e. season or length of time etc) and spatial (i.e. area) restrictions. The 2010 Order prohibits scallop dredge fishing in areas which have been identified as important to vulnerable marine species and habitats and allows a specific area within the Cardigan Bay SAC (known as the Kaiser Box) to open on 01 November and close on 30 April annually.	Spatial restrictions. Prohibits (king) scallop dredging within 1 nm, i.e. for all intertidal habitats. HRA carried out. All relevant sensitive features addressed.	Revoked Prohibition of Fishing for Scallops (Wales) Order 2009 and the Scallop Fishing (Wales) Order 2010. Note , there is an ongoing consultation on new management measures for scallop fishing in Cardigan Bay , which closes on 17.02.16. N Wales Byelaws 12, 20 of the former NWNW SFC are relevant to the regulation of Scallop fishing in Wales (stated in Welsh Government, 2015 - Cardigan Bay scallop dredging consultation document) S Wales Byelaws 14 (MLS), 40 (restriction method of harvesting - written authorisation and 45 (temporal restriction) of former South Wales SFC are relevant to the regulation of Scallop fishing in Wales (stated in Welsh Government, 2015 - Cardigan Bay scallop dredging consultation document)
L2	Scallop Dredging Operations (Tracking Devices) (Wales) Order 2012	Requires scallop vessels to use tracking devices		The explanatory note states that the order regulates scallop dredging operations (in Wales) by placing a requirements on certain British fishing boats with scallop dredges onboard to transmit certain information.
L3	Sea Fish (Specified Sea Areas) (Prohibition of Fishing Method) (Wales) Order 2012	Prohibits use of bottom towed gear from any fishing boat in two specified sea areas in North Wales to protect horse mussel reefs	Spatial restrictions (see Column I) - mobile gears and horse mussel reefs	Revokes and replaces Byelaw 21 of the former NWNW SFC. Specific sea areas provided as co-ordinates in Order.
L4-3	Inshore Fishery Legislation (North Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former North Western and North Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments. BYL3 - prohibition of anchor seining and Scottish seining	BYL3 - prohibition of anchor seining and Scottish seining in SFC district <6 nm)	
L4-6	Inshore Fishery Legislation (North Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former North Western and North Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL6 - size limit on shrimp trawl beam length	BYL6 - prohibition of mobile trawls for shrimp (beam and otter) where length of beam (or otter trawl headline) or multiple beams/headlines > 10 m in length; also min mesh size 20 mm, use of riddle	Applicable to Beam trawl (shrimp) and shrimp push nets in 0-6 nm.
L4-12	Inshore Fishery Legislation (North Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former North Western and North Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL12 – bivalve molluscan shellfish	BYL12 - any dredge for molluscan shellfish must have written authorisation from SFC which may have conditions (temporal and/or spatial restrictions) attached (0-6 nm)	BYL 12 relevant to scallop/mussel/clam/oyster dredging 0-6 nm
L4-20	Inshore Fishery Legislation (North Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former North Western and North Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL20 - scallop dredging in Cardigan Bay	BYL20 - temporal restrictions on scallop fishing in Cardigan Bay	

Ref no	Legislation	Description	Relevant Influence on Gear/Feature Interactions	Additional Note(s)
L4-21	Inshore Fishery Legislation (North Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former North Western and North Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL21 - bottom towed gear	BYL21 - prohibition of bottom trawled gear in specific areas (co-ords given)	BYL 21 relevant to tractor dredging 0-6 nm. REVOKED BY Sea Fish (Specified Sea Areas) (Prohibition of Fishing Method) (Wales) order 2012
L4-24	Inshore Fishery Legislation (North Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former North Western and North Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL214- fixed engines	BYL24 - temporal restrictions and technical specifications on fixed engines to avoid taking salmonids	
L4-25	Inshore Fishery Legislation (North Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former North Western and North Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL25 - drift nets	BYL25 - prohibition of drift nets in specific areas at specific times (2 areas all the time) to protect migrating salmonids (rel. to mobile features)	
L5-13	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL13 - Shellfish minimum sizes	BYL13 - Shellfish minimum sizes. Min sizes for oyster, mussels and cockles. Undersized mussels and cockles (for seed) may be taken with a permit - undergoes assessment	
L5-17	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL17 - Burry Inlet cockle fishery	BYL17 - The licensing of cockle gathering in the Burry Inlet. Must have a permit to gather cockles	
L5-20	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL20 - Protection of shellfish beds - Burry Inlet	BYL 20 - no activity permitted which disturbs or damages the surface of the seabed within specific areas in Burry Inlet (without written authority)	
L5-25	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL25 - Milford Haven prohibited area	BYL25 - prohibition of towed fishing gear for sea fish within a specified area (river) in Milford Haven	
L5-26	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL26 - Milford Haven prohibited area	BYL26 - prohibition of any trawl, anchor seine or fly dragging seine for sea fish in a specific area in Milford Haven	
L5-27	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL27 - Prohibition of dredge and beam trawls, Skomer	BYL27 - prohibition of any dredge or beam trawl in specific area (Skomer)	
L5-28	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL28 - Prohibition scallop fishing Skomer	BYL28 - prohibition of scallop fishing in specific area (Skomer)	
L5-29	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL29 - Bass nursery areas	BYL29 - restriction on fishing by boat in bass nursery areas - dredging for molluscs and potting for crustaceans exempt	
L5-30	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL30 - Fixed nets	BYL30 - Fixed nets to be cleared of fish regularly, salmon/sea trout returned to sea, specification of areas where nets cannot be set (reason for restrictions not specified)	
L5-31	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL31 - prohibition of drift nets	BYL31 - prohibition of drift nets in specific areas at specific times (some areas all times) - mainly rivers	

Ref no	Legislation	Description	Relevant Influence on Gear/Feature Interactions	Additional Note(s)
L5-39	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL39 - beam trawl max length	BYL39 - restriction on beam trawls >4 m length without written authority, within 3 nm.	
L5-40	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL40 - shellfish harvesting	BYL40 - restriction of methods of bivalve molluscan shellfish harvesting to hand/hand held instrument (other methods to be approved dependent on its use not causing unacceptable damage to any molluscan fishery and/or other biota (marine or otherwise) and/or more than 10% by weight of target species damaged)	BYL 40 relevant to scallop, mussel, clam, oyster and tractor dredging 0-6 nm.
L5-47	Inshore Fishery Legislation (South Wales, 0-6 nm)	Bye-laws of the former South Wales SFC, implemented via statutory instruments BYL47 - Three Rivers cockle fishery	BYL47 - Permit to take Cockles in the Three Rivers Estuary.	
L6	The Cockles and Mussels (Specified Area) (Wales) Order 2011	Prohibits commercial hand gathering of cockles and mussels in north Wales without a permit granted by the Welsh Ministers. A permit is required to take cockles and mussels within a specified area, unless <5 kg per day for personal consumption, or from a British fishing boat.	All intertidal shellfisheries require permit and potential interactions are assessed.	Revokes BYL5N.
L7	Common Fisheries Policy	Retaining salmon and sea trout is prohibited anywhere in UK waters by UK boats as a condition to fishing licences and also under Art 26 of the Tech Con. Reg 850/98 for non UK boats.	Prohibited to catch or retain salmon and sea trout without a licence.	
Consul- tation	Welsh Government Consultation - Scallop fishing in Cardigan Bay: New Management Measures	WG consultation on proposed adaptive management measures for scallop fisheries within Cardigan bay within 3-12 nm		Consultation end 17.02.16.

E List of Evidence Sources

E.1 List of evidence sources from FIED

- Abookirea A.A., Rose, C.S. 2005 Modifications to a plumb staff beam trawl for sampling uneven, complex habitats. *Fisheries Research*. Vol. 71, 247–254.
- Alexandre, A., Santos, R. and Serrao, E. (2005). Effects of clam harvesting on sexual reproduction of the seagrass *Zostera noltii*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 298, 115-122
- Ardizzone, G.D., Tucci, P., Somaschini, A. And Belluscio, A. 2000 Is bottom trawling partly responsible for the regression of Posidonia oceanica meadows in the Mediterranean Sea. In: Kaiser, M.J. And de Groot, S.J. 2000 The effects of fishing on non-target species and habitats. Biological, conservation and socio-economic issues. Blackwell science (ISBN 0-632-05355-0)
- Argyll Marine Special Areas of Conservation Firth of Lorn Marine SAC Management Plan (2005).
- Argyll Marine Special Areas of conservation Loch Creran Marine SAC Management Plan (2005).
- Atkinson P.W., Clark, N.A., Bell, M.C., Dare, P.J., Clark, J.A., Ireland, P.L. 2003 Changes in commercially fished shellfish stocks and shorebird populations in the Wash, England. *Biological Conservation*. Vol. 114, 127-141.
- Atkinson, P.W., Maclean, I.M.D., Clark, N.A. 2010 Impacts of shellfisheries and nutrient inputs on waterbird communities in the Wash, England. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. Vol. 47, 191-199
- Attrill, M. J., Sheehan, E. V. (2011). The Lyme Bay Experimental Potting Project, University of Plymouth Marine Institute, pp1–8.
- Attrill, MJ., Austen, MC., Bayley, DTI., Carr, HL., Downey, K., Fowell, SC., Gall, SC., Hattam, C., Holland, L., Jackson, EL., Langmead, O., Mangi, S., Marshall, C., Munro, C., Rees, S., Rodwell, L., Sheehan, EV., Stevens, J., Stevens, TF., Strong, S. 2011. Lyme Bay a case study: measuring recovery of benthic species; assessing potential "spillover" effects and socio-economic changes, 2 years after the closure. Response of the benthos to the zoned exclusion of bottom towed fishing gear and the associated socio-economic effects in Lyme Bay. Final Report 1. June 2011. Report to the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs from the University of Plymouth-led consortium. Plymouth: University of Plymouth Enterprise Ltd. 108 pages.
- Ball, B.J., Fox, G., and Munday, B.W. 2000. Long- and short-term consequences of a Nephrops trawl fishery on the benthos and environment of the Irish Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol. 57, 1315-1320.
- Ban, N. C., Alidina, H. M., & Ardron, J. A. (2010). Cumulative impact mapping: advances, relevance and limitations to marine management and conservation, using Canada's Pacific waters as a case study. *Marine Policy*, 34(5), 876–886. doi:10.1016/j.marpol.2010.01.010.
- Bartlett, G., Elliot, M., Firth, C., Giles, E., Hawthorne, E., Proctor, N., & Stout J. 2004 Humber Management Scheme Annex A – Fisheries. North East Sea Fisheries Committee, Commercial Fisheries.
- Bell, M.C., Walker, P. 2006. Desk study to assess the impact of cockle suction dredging on The Wash and North Norfolk Coast European Marine Site. Report number 670. CEFAS Contract No. C2252
- Bergman, M.J.N. and van Santbrink, J.W. 2000 Mortality in megafaunal benthic populations caused by trawl fisheries on the Dutch continental shelf in the North Sea in 1994. *ICES Journal* of Marine Science. Vol. 57, 1321-1331.
- Bergmann, M. And Moore, P.G. 2001 Mortality of Asterias rubens and Ophiura ophiura discarded in the Nephrops fishery of the Clyde Sea area, Scotland. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol. 58, 531-542.

- Birkett DA, Maggs CA, Dring MJ (1998) Maerl (Volume V) An overview of dynamic and sensitivity characteristics for conservation management of marine SACs. Scottish Association for Marine Science. UK Marine SACs Project.
- Blaber SJM, Cyrus DP, Albaret J-J, Chong Ving Ching, Day JW, Elliott M, Fonseca MS, Hoss DE, Orensanz J, Potter IC, Silvert W (2000) Effects of Fishing on the Structure and Functioning of Estuarine and Nearshore Ecosystems. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol. 57, 590-602.
- Blake, R. W. 1978. On the exploitation of natural population of *Nereis virens* Sars from the North-East Coast of England. *Estuarine & Coastal Marine Science*. Vol. 8, 141-148.
- Blake, R. W. 1979. Exploitation of natural population of Arenicola marina (L) from the North-East Coast of England. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. Vol. 16, 663-670.
- Blyth, R.E., Kaiser, M.J., Edwards-Jones, G. and Hart, P.J.B. 2004. Implications of a zoned fishery management system for marine benthic communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. Vol. 41, 951-961.
- Blyth-Skyrme, R.E. 2011. Sensitivity assessment of native oyster and blue mussel; a report to Natural England for the MCZ Project. Ichthys Marine Ecological Consulting Ltd. Project reference number: SAE03-02-419, March 2011, 32 pp.
- Boese, B.L. (2002). Effects of recreational clam harvesting on eelgrass (Zostera marina) and associated infaunal invertebrates: *in situ* manipulative experiments. *Aquatic Botany*. Vol. 73, 63– 74.
- Bordehore C, Ramos-Espla AA, Riosmena-Rodriguez R (2003) Comparative Study of Two Mearl Beds with Different Otter Trawling History, Southeast Iberian Peninsula. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*. Vol. 13 (S1), S43-S54.
- Boulcott, P. and Howell, T. 2011. The impact of scallop dredging on rocky-reef substrata. *Fisheries Research*. Vol. 110, 415-420.
- Bradshaw, C, Veale, L.O., Hill, A.S. & Brand, A.R. 2001. The effect of scallop dredging on Irish Sea benthos: experiments using a closed area. *Hydrobiologia*. Vol. 465, 129-138.
- Brosnan, D.M. and Crumrine, L.L. 1994. Effects of human trampling on marine rocky shore communities. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*. Vol. 177, 79-97.
- Brown, B. & Wilson, W. H. 1997. The role of commercial digging of mudflats as an agent for change of infaunal intertidal populations. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*. Vol. 218, 49-61.
- Cabaco, S., Alexandre, A. and Santos, R. (2005). Population-level effects of clam harvesting on the seagrass Zostera noltii. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 298, 123-129.
- Coen, L.D. 1995. A review of the potential impacts of mechanical harvesting on subtidal and intertidal shellfish resources. Prepared by the South Carolina Department of Natural Resources and Marine Resources Research Institute.
- Coleman, R.A., Hoskin, M.G., von Carlhausen, E., and Davis, C.M. 2013. Using a no-take zone to assess the impacts of fishing: Sessile epifauna appear insensitive to environmental disturbances from commercial potting. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*. Vol. 440, 100-107.
- Collie, J.S., Hall, S.J., Kaiser, M.J. And Poiner, I.R. 2000 A quantitative analysis of fishing impacts on shelf-sea benthos. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. Vol. 69, 785-798.
- Constantino, R., Gaspar, M.B., Tata-Regala, J., Carvalho, S., Curdia, J., Drago, T., Taborda, R., Monteiro, C.C., 2009. Clam dredging effects and subsequent recovery of benthic communities at different depth ranges. *Marine Environmental Research*. Vol. 67 (2), 89.
- Cook R, Farinas-Franco JM, Gell FR, Holt RHF, Holt T, *et al.* (2013) The Substantial First Impact of Bottom Fishing on Rare Biodiversity Hotspots: A Dilemma for Evidence-Based Conservation. *PLoS ONE* 8(8): e69904. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0069904.
- Currie, D. R. and Parry, G. D. 1996. Effects of scallop dredging on a soft sediment community: A large-scale experimental study. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 134 (1-3), 131-150. (10.3354/meps134131).

- Dale, A.C., Boulcott, P., and Sherwin, T.J. 2011 Sedimentation patterns caused by scallop dredging in a physically dynamic environment. Marine Pollution Bulletin. Vol. 62, 2433-2441.
- Dare, P.J., Bell, M.C., Walker, P., Bannister, R.C.A. 2004. Historical and current status of cockle and mussel stocks in The Wash. CEFAS Lowestoft, 85pp.
- Davison DM, Hughes DJ (1998) Zostera Biotopes (Volume 1) An overview of dynamics and sensitivity characteristics for conservation management of marine SACs. Scottish Association for Marine Science. UK Marine SACs Project.
- DEFRA (2008) Impact Assessment of Measures to Protect Marine Biodiversity in Lyme Bay.
- DeGange, A.R., Day, R.H., Takekawa, J.E., Mendenhall, V.M. (No other reference information available).
- Depestele J, Courtens W., Degraer S., Haelters J., Hostens K., Houziaux J-S., Merckx B., Polet H., Rabaut M., Stienen E.W.M., Vandendriessche S., Verfaillie E. & Vincx M. 2012. An integrated impact assessment of trammel net and beam trawl fisheries "WAKO II" - Final Report. Brussels: Belgian Science Policy Office 2012 – 233 p (Research Programme Science for a Sustainable Development).
- Dernie, K.M., Kaiser, M.J. and Warwick, R.M. 2003. Recovery rates of benthic communities following physical disturbance. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. Vol. 73, 1043-1056.
- Devon Wildlife Trust. 2007. Lyme Bay Reefs: A 16 year search for sustainability.
- Dolmer P, Kristensen T, Christiansen ML, Petersen MF, Kristensen PS, Hoffmann E (2001) Shortterm impact of blue mussel dredging (Mytilus edulis L.) on a benthic community. *Hydrobiologia*. Vol. 465, 115-127.
- Dolmer, P. and Geitner, K. 2004. Integrated Coastal Zone Management of cultures and fishery of mussels in Limfjorden, Denmark. ICES CM 2004/V:07. 9pp. Downloaded from: http://www.ices.dk/products/CMdocs/2004/V/V0704.pdf.
- Eckrich, C.E. and Holmquist, J.G. (2000). Trampling in a seagrass assemblage: direct effects, response of associated fauna, and the role of substrate characteristics. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 201, 199-209.
- Engel, J and Kvitek, R. 1998. Effects of Otter Trawling on a Benthic Community in Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary. *Conservation Biology*. Vol. 12 (6), 1204-1214.
- English Nature. Bait digging and birds. Birds Network Information Note.
- Eno, N.C., MacDonald, D.S., Kinnear, J.A.M., Amos, S.C., Chapman, C.J., Clark, R.A., Bunker, F.St.P.D and Munro, C. 2001. Effects of crustacean traps on benthic fauna. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol. 58, 11-20.
- Erftemeijer, P.L.A., and Lewis, R.R.R. 2006. Environmental impacts of dredging on seagrasses: A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. Vol. 52, 1553-1572.
- Evans, P.G.H. and Baines, M.E. 2013. A methodology to assess the sensitivity of marine mammals to different fishing activities and intensities. CCW Policy Research Report No 12/6. 83pp.
- FEAST.
- Foden, J., Rogers, S.I., Jones, A.P. 2010. Recovery of UK seabed habitats from benthic fishing and aggregate extraction- towards a cumulative impact assessment. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 411, 259-270.
- Fosså, J.H., Mortensen, P.B. and Furevik, D.M. 2002. The deep-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* in Norwegian waters: distribution and fishery impacts. *Hydrobiologia*. Vol. 471, 1–12.
- Fowler, S. L. 2001. Investigation into the extent of bait collection and its impacts on features of conservation interest for birds and intertidal species and habitats within the Solent and Poole Bay Natural Area. Final Report to English Nature. Open Library OL18942327M.
- Freese, J. L., 2001. Trawl-induced damage to sponges observed from a research submersible. *Marine Fisheries Review*. Vol. 63 (3), 7-13.
- Freese, L., Auster, P. J., Heifetz, J., & Wing, B. L. (1999). Effects of trawling on seafloor habitat and associated invertebrate taxa in the Gulf of Alaska. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 182, 119-126.
- Furness, R.W. 2003 Impacts of fisheries on seabird communities. *Scientia Marina*. Vol. 67, 33-45.

- Goldberg, R., Mercaldo-Allen, R., Rose, J.M., Clark, P., Kuropat, C., Meseck, S., Pereira, J. 2012. Effects of hydraulic shellfish dredging on the ecology of a cultivated clam bed. *Aquaculture Environment Interactions*. Vol. 3, 11-21.
- Gonzalez-Correa JM, Bayle JT, Sanchez-Lizaso JL, Valle C, Sanchez-Jerez P, Ruiz JM (2005) Recovery of deep Posidonia oceanica meadows degraded by trawling. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*. Vol. 320, 65-76.
- Goodwin, C., Edwards, H., Breen, J., Picton, B. 2011. Rathlin Island A survey report from the Nationally Important Marine Features Project 2009-2011. Northern Ireland Environment Agency Research and Development Series No. 11/03.
- Greathead, C.F., Donnan, D.W., Mair, J.M. and Saunders, G.R. 2007. The sea pens Virgularia mirabilis, Pennatula phosphorea and Funiculina quadrangularis: distribution and conservation issues in Scottish waters. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. Vol. 87, 1095–1103.
- Grieve, C., Brady, D., & Hans Polet, IR. 2011. Best Practices for Managing, Measuring and Mitigating the Benthic Impacts of Fishing. Final Report the Marine Stewardship Council.
- Gubbay, S. & Knapman, P.A. 1999. A review of the effects of fishing within UK European marine sites. English Nature (UK Marine SACs Project) 134.
- Hall, K., Paramor, O.A.L., Robinson, L.A., Winrow-Giffin, A., Frid, C.L.J., Eno, N.C., Dernie, K.M., Sharp, R.A.M., Wyn, G.C. & Ramsay, K. 2008. Mapping the sensitivity of benthic habitats to fishing in Welsh Waters: development of a protocol. CCW (Policy Research) Report No: 8/12. 85pp.
- Hall, S.J., Harding, M. j. c. (1997). Physical disturbance and marine benthic communities: the effects of mechanical harvesting of cockles on non-target benthic fauna. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 34, 497–517.
- Hall-Spencer, J., Allain, V., Fossa, J.H., 2002. Trawling damage to Northeast Atlantic ancient coral reefs. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*. Vol. 269, 507-511
- Hall-Spencer, J.M. and Moore, P.G. 2000. Scallop dredging has profound, long-term impacts on maerl habitats. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol. 57, 1407-1415.
- Hartnoll, R. G., 1998. Circalittoral faunal turf biotopes: An overview of dynamics and sensitivity characteristics for conservation management of marine SACs, Volume VIII. Scottish Association of Marine Sciences, Oban, Scotland.
- Hauton, C., Hall-Spencer, J.M., and Moore, P.G., 2003. An experimental study of the ecological impacts of hydraulic bivalve dredging on maerl. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol. 60, 381-392.
- Hiddink JG, Jennings S, Kaiser MJ (2007) Assessing and Predicting the Relative Ecological Impacts of Disturbance on Habitats with Different Sensitivities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. Vol. 44, 405-413.
- Hiddink JG, Kaiser MJ, Hinz H, Ridgeway A. Quantification of epibenthic fauna in areas subjected to different regimes of scallop dredging activity in Lyme Bay, Devon.
- Hiddink, J.G. 2003 Effects of suction-dredging for cockles on non-target fauna in the Wadden Sea. *Journal of Sea Research*. Vol. 50, 315-323.
- Hiddink, J.G., Jennings, S., Kaiser, M.J., Queirós, A.M., Duplisea, D.E., and Piet, G.J. 2006. Cumulative impacts of seabed trawl disturbance on benthic biomass, production, and species richness in different habitats. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*. Vol. 63 (4), 721.
- Hinz H, Tarrent D, Ridgeway A, Kaiser MJ, Hiddink (2011) Effects of Scallop Dredging on Temperate Reef Fauna. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 432, 91-102.
- Hinz, H., Murray, L.G., Malcolm, F.R., Kaiser, M.J. 2012. The environmental impacts of three different queen scallop (*Aequipecten opercularis*) fishing gears. *Marine Environmental Research*. Vol. 72, 85-95.
- Hiscock, K., Sewell, J. & Oakley, J. 2005 Marine Health Check 2005. A report to gauge the health of the UK's sea-life. Godalming, WWF-UK.

- Hoffmann E and Dolmer P (2000) Effect of Closed Areas on Distribution of Fish and Epibenthos. ICES Journal of Marine Science. Vol. 57, 1310-1314.
- Howarth, L. M., Wood, H. L., Turner, A. P., & Beukers-Stewart, B. D. (2011). Complex habitat boosts scallop recruitment in a fully protected marine reserve. *Marine Biology*, 158(8), 1767– 1780. doi:10.1007/s00227-011-1690-y.
- Hulme, S., Lee, V. The effects of an eco-elevator cockle harvester on macrofauna assemblage, cockle populations and sediment parameters within an intertidal sand flat.
- ICES (2008). WKFMMPA REPORT 2008 Report of the Workshop on Fisheries Management in Marine Protected Areas (WKFMMPA) 2-4 June, 2008.
- Jackson J.B., Kirby M.X., Berger W.H., Bjorndal K.A., Botsford L.W., Bourque B.J., Bradbury R.H., Cooke R., Erlandson J., Estes J.A., Hughes T.P., Kidwell S., Lange C.B., Lenihan H.S., Pandolfi J.M., Peterson C.H., Steneck R.S., Tegner M.J., Warner R.R. 1999. Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. *Fishery Bulletin*. Vol. 97(1), 183-199.
- Jennings, S., T.A. Dinmore, D.E. Duplisea, K.J. Warr & J. Lancaster, 2001. Trawling disturbance can modify benthic production processes. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. Vol. 70, 459-475.
- JNCC & NE, 2011. Advice from the Joint Nature Conservation Committee and Natural England with regard to fisheries impacts on Marine Conservation Zone habitat features, 113pp.
- Johnson K.A. 2002. A review of national and international literature on the effects of fishing on benthic habitats.
- Johnson, G. E. L., Attrill, M. J., Sheehan, E. V. & Somerfield, P. J. 2007. Recovery of meiofauna communities following mudflat disturbance by trampling associated with crab-tiling. *Marine Environmental Research*. Vol. 64: 409-416.
- Kaiser MJ. A Summary of the Impacts of Scallop Dredging on Seabed Biota and Habitats.
- Kaiser, M. J., Broad, G. and Hall, S. J. 2001. Disturbance of intertidal soft-sediment benthic communities by cockle hand raking. *Journal of Sea Research*. Vol. 45 (2), 119-130. (10.1016/s1385-1101(01)00052-1).
- Kaiser, M. J., Edwards, D. B., Armstrong, P. J., Radford, K., Lough, N. E. L., Flatt, R. P. and Jones, H. D. 1998. Changes in megafaunal benthic communities in different habitats after trawling disturbance. *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil*. Vol. 55 (3), 353-361. (10.1006/jmsc.1997.0322).
- Kaiser, M.J. & B. E. Spencer, 1994. Fish scavenging behaviour in recently trawled areas. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 112, 41-49.
- Kaiser, M.J., Bullimore, B., Newman, P., Lock, K., and Gilbert, S.1996 Catches in 'ghost fishing' set nets. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 145, 11-16.
- Kaiser, M.J., Clarke, K.R., Hinz, H., Austen, M.C.V., Somerfield, P.J., Karakassis, I. 2006 Global analysis of response and recovery of benthic biota to fishing. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 311:1-14.
- Kaiser, M.J., Collie, J.S., Hall, S.J., Jennings, S. And Roiner. 2002 Modification of marine habitats by trawling activities: prognosis and solutions. *Fish and Fisheries*. Vol. 3, 114-136.
- Kinnear J.A.M., Barkel, P.J., Mojsiewicz, W.R., Chapman, C.J., Holbrow, A.J., Barnes, C. and Greathead C.F.F. 1996. Effects of Nephrops creels on the environment. Fisheries Research Services Report No 2/96.
- Lambert, G. I., Jennings, S., Kaiser, M. J., Hinz, H., & Hiddink, J. G. (2011). Quantification and prediction of the impact of fishing on epifaunal communities. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 430, 71-86.
- Liley, D., Cruickshanks, K, Fearnley, H. & Lake, S. 2012 The effect of bait collection on waterfowl foraging behaviour in Holes Bay, Poole Harbour. Report for Natural England. Footprint Ecology Ltd., Wareham, Dorset.
- Lindholm, J., Geason, M., Kline, D., Clary, L., Rienecke, S., Bell, M., Kitaguchi, B. (2013). Central Coast Trawl Impact and Recovery Study: 2009-2012. Final Report to the California Ocean Protection Council.

- Løkkeborg, S. Impacts of trawling and scallop dredging on benthic habitats and communities.
 FAO Fisheries Technical Paper. No. 472. Rome, FAO. 2005. 58p.
- Mangano, M. C., Kaiser, M. J., Porporato, E. M. D., Lambert, G. I., Rinelli, P., & Spanò, N. (2014). Infaunal community responses to a gradient of trawling disturbance and a long-term Fishery Exclusion Zone in the Southern Tyrrhenian Sea. *Continental Shelf Research*, 76, 25–35. doi:10.1016/j.csr.2013.12.014.
- Marine Scotland (2011) Consultation on fisheries management in Luce bay special area of conservation (SAC).
- MarLIN.
- McLusky, D. S., Anderson, F. E. & Wolfe-Murphy, S. 1983. Distribution and population recovery of Arenicola marina and other benthic fauna after bait digging. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 11, 173-179.
- Mercaldo-Allen, R., Goldberg, R. 2011. Review of the Ecological Effects of Dredging in the Cultivation and Harvest of Molluscan Shellfish. NOAA Technical Memorandum, NMFS-NE-220
- Monteiro, C. C., Gaspar, M. B., Carvalho, S., Constantino, R., & Cu, J. (2009). Can we infer dredge fishing effort from macrobenthic community structure? *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 66, 2121–2132.
- Murray, S., Wanless, S. And Harris, M.P. 1994 The effects of fixed salmon (Salmo salar) nets on guillemot (*Uria aalge*) and razorbill (*Alca torda*) in Northeast Scotland in 1992. *Biological Conservation*. Vol. 70, 251-256.
- Neckles HA, Short FT, Barker S, Kopp BS (2005) Disturbance of eelgrass Zoestera marina by commercial mussel Mytilus edulis harvesting in Maine: Dragging impacts and habitat recovery. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 285, 57-73.
- Orth, R.J., Fishman, J.R., Wilcox, D.J. And Moore, K.A. 2002 Identification and management of fishing gear impacts in a recovering seagrass system in the coastal bays of the Delmarva Peninsula, USA. *Journal of Coastal Research*. Vol. 37, 111-129.
- OSPAR. 2009. Background document for littoral chalk communities. OSPAR Commission, London.
- OSPAR. 2011. Background document for seapen and burrowing megafauna communities. OSPAR Commission. 27pp.
- Pedersen, S. A., Fock, H., Krause, J., Pusch, C., Sell, A. L., Bo, U., Rice, J. C. (2009). Natura 2000 sites and fisheries in German offshore waters. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 66, 155–169.
- Peterson CH, Summerson HC, Fegley SR. (1987). Ecological consequences of mechanical harvesting of clams. *Fishery Bulletin*. Vol. 85 (2), 281-298.
- PROTECT.
- Queirós, A.M., J.G. Hiddink, M.J. Kaiser & H. Hinz, 2006. Effects of chronic bottom trawling disturbance on benthic biomass, production and size spectra in different habitats. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*. Vol. 335(1), 91-103.
- Rabaut, M., Braeckman, U., Hendrick, F., Vincx, M., & Degraer, S. (2008). Experimental beamtrawling in *Lanice conchilega* reefs: Impact on the associated fauna. *Fisheries Research*, 90(1-3), 209–216. doi:10.1016/j.fishres.2007.10.009.
- Ramsay, K., Kaiser, M.J., and Hughes, R.N.1998 Responses of benthic scavengers to fishing disturbance by towed gear in different habitats. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*. Vol. 224, 73-89.
- Roberts, C., Smith, C., Tillin, H. Tyler-Walters, H. 2010. Review of existing approaches to evaluate marine habitat vulnerability to commercial fishing activities. Report: SC080016/R3. ISBN: 978-1-84911-208-6.
- Rogers, S. I. & J. R. Ellis, 2000. Changes in the demersal fish assemblages of British coastal waters during the 20th century. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol. 57, 866–881.

- Rossi, F., Forster, R.M., Montserrat, F., Ponti, M., Terlizzi, A., Ysebaert, T., & Middelburg, J.J. (2007) Human trampling as short-term disturbance on intertidal mudflats: effects on macrofauna biodiversity and population dynamics of bivalves. *Marine Biology*. Vol. 151, 2077-2090.
- Schratzberger, M., Dinmore, T.A., and Jennings, S. 2002. Impacts of trawling on the diversity, biomass and structure of meiofauna assemblages. *Marine Biology*. Vol. 140, 83-93.
- Schroeder, S., Gustow, L., Gusky, M. (2008). FishPact Impacts of bottom trawl fisheries, as well
 as sand and gravel mining operations on the seabed structure and benthos in the protected
 areas of the German EEZ of the North Sea.
- Scottish Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA) (2000). Sound OF Arisaig mSAC Management Scheme.
- Sewell, J., & Hiscock, K. (2005). Effects of fishing within UK European Marine Sites: guidance for nature conservation agencies. Report to the Countryside Council for Wales, English Nature and Scottish Natural Heritage from the Marine Biological Association.
- Sewell, J., Harris, R., Hinz, H., Votier, S. and Hiscock, K. 2007. An Assessment of the Impact of Selected Fishing Activities on European Marine Sites and a Review of Mitigation Measures. Report number: SR591. ISBN – 0 903941 69 4.
- Sheehan, E. V, Stevens, T. F., Gall, S. C., Cousens, S. L., & Attrill, M. J. (2013). Recovery of a temperate reef assemblage in a marine protected area following the exclusion of towed demersal fishing. *PloS One*, 8(12), e83883. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083883.
- Sheehan, E.V., Coleman, R.A., Thompson, R. C. & Attrill, M. J. 2010. Crab-tiling reduces the diversity of estuarine infauna. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 411, 137-148.
- Sheehan, E.V., Thompson, R. C., Coleman, R.A. & Attrill, M. J. 2008. Positive feedback fishery: Population consequences of "crab-tiling" on the green crab *Carcinus maenas. Journal of Sea Research.* Vol. 60, 303-309.
- Skilleter, G.A., Cameron, B., Zharikov, Y., Boland, D. and McPhee, D.P. (2006). Effects of physical disturbance on infaunal and epifaunal assemblages in subtropical, intertidal seagrass beds. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 308, 61-78.
- Smith, J.R. and Murray, S.N. 2005. The effects of experimental bait collection and trampling on a *Mytilus californianus* mussel bed in southern California. *Marine Biology*. Vol. 147, 699–706.
- Sonntag, N., Schwemmer, H., Fock, H. O., Bellebaum, J., & Garthe, S. (2012). Sea birds, set nets and conservation management: assessment of potential and vulnerability of birds to by-catch in gill nets. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 69(4), 578–589.
- Tasker, M. L., Camphuysen, C. J., Cooper, J., Garthe, S., Montevecchi, W. A., and Blaber, S. J. M. 2000. The impacts of fishing on marine birds. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol. 57, 531–547.
- Tillin, H.M., Hull, S.C., Tyler-Walters, H. (2010). Development of a sensitivity Matrix (pressures-MCZ/MPA features). Report to the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs from ABPmer, Southampton and the Marine Life Information Network (MarLIN) Plymouth: Marine Biological Association of the UK. Defra Contract No. MB0102 Task 3A, Report No. 22.
- Tobin, D., Bower, R., Blasdale, T., Mcleod, M., & Mcleod, M. (2013). Scanner Pockmark Site of Community Importance - Fisheries Measures Proposal, 1–15.
- Townshend, D.J. & O'Connor, D.A. 1993. Some effects of disturbance to waterfowl from baitdigging and wildfowling at Lindisfarne National Nature Reserve, north-east England. Wader Study Group Bull. 68: 47-52.
- Turner S, Schwarz A-M (2006). Management and conservation of seagrass in New Zealand: An introduction. Science for Conservation 264.
- "Verhulst, S., K. Oosterbeek, A. L. Rutten, and B. J. Ens. 2004. Shellfish fishery severely reduces condition and survival of oystercatchers despite creation of large marine protected areas. Ecology and Society. Vol. 9(1), 17. [online] URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol9/iss1/art17".
- Vorberg, R. 2000. Effects of shrimp fisheries on reefs of Sabellaria spinulosa (polychaeta). ICES Journal of Marine Science. Vol. 57, 1416-1420.
- WAKO II.

- Watson G, Murray JM, Schaefer M, Bonner A and Gillingham (2012) Does local marine conservation work? Evaluating management strategies for bait collection in the Solent. A report to Natural England with funding from the Crown Estate's Marine Stewardship fund.
- Watson, G. J., Farrell, P., Stanton, S. & Skidmore, L. C. 2007. Effects of bait collection on Nereis virens populations and macrofaunal communities in the Solent, UK. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK*. Vol. 87, 703-716.
- Wilson, S., Blake, C., Berges, J.A. and Maggs, C.A. 2004. Environmental tolerances of free-living coralline algae (maerl): implications for European marine conservation. *Biological Conservation* Vol. 120, 279-289.
- Working Group on Characterisation and Risk Assessment. (2005). Guidance On Thresholds And Methodology To Be Applied In Ireland's river basin district - Paper by the Working Group on Characterisation and Risk Assessment.
- WWT Consulting. (2012). Discussion examples of sensitivity scores and mapping of auks, Shags and Cormorants to set nets, terns to dredging and Oystercatchers to shellfish harvesting in Welsh waters.
- WWT Consulting. 2012. Review of the impacts of fisheries on marine birds with particular reference to Wales. Marine Spatial Planning in Wales Project. Report Number 11/6.
- Young, T. E. (2013) Assessing the impact of potting on chalk reef communities in the Flamborough Head European Marine Site. Report to the North Eastern Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority. Unpublished thesis (MSc) Newcastle University. Pp74.
- Zydelis, R., Bellebaum, J., Osterblom, H., Vetemaa, M., Schirmeister, B., Stipniece, A., Dagys, M., van Eerden, M. And Garthe, S. 2009 Bycatch in gillnet fisheries- An overlooked threat to waterbird populations. *Biological Conservation*. Vol. 142, 1269-1281.

E.2 List of additional evidence sources included in Evidence Database

- Adey, Jonathan Max (2007) Aspects of the sustainability of creel fishing for Norway lobster, Nephrops norvegicus (L.), on the west coast of Scotland. PhD thesis, University of Glasgow.
- Agri-Food and Biosciences Institute (AFBI), Research on the physical impacts of pots on SAC features in Northern Ireland.
- Argyll marine Special Areas of Conservation Loch Creran Marine SAC Management Plan (2005).
- ASMFC (2000) Evaluating fishing gear impacts to submerged aquatic vegetation and determining mitigation strategies. ASMFC Habitat Management Series No. 5. Washington D.C, Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission. pp. 38 pp.
- Belda EJ, Sanchez A (2001) Seabird mortality on longline fisheries in the western Mediterranean: factors affecting bycatch and proposed mitigating measures. *Biological Conservation* 98:357– 363.
- Berggren, P. 1994. Bycatches of the harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*) in the Swedish Skaggerak, Kattegat and Baltic Seas: 1973–1993. Report of the International Whaling Commission (Special Issue 15): 211–215.
- Bergman, M.J. and Hup, M. 1992. Direct effects of beam trawling on macrofauna in a sandy sediment in the southern North Sea. *ICES Marine Science Symposium* 49: 5–11.
- CEC 2002. Incidental catches of small cetaceans. Report of the meeting of the subgroup on fishery and the environment (SGFEN) of the Scientific, Technical and Economic Committee for Fisheries (STECF), Brussels December 2001. SEC (2002) 376. Commission of the European Communities, Brussels.
- CEEF 2002. Committee on Ecosystem Effects of Fishing: phase 1 effects of bottom trawling on seafloor habitats. National Academy Press, Washington, 33 pp. (available online, November

2015:

http://www.arrancoast.com/science/effects_of_trawling_and_dredging_on_seafloor_habitat.pdf

- Coleman, R.A., Hoskin, M.G., von Carlshausen, E. and Davis, C.M. (2013) Using a no-take zone to assess the impacts of fishing: Sessile epifauna appear insensitive to environmental disturbances from commercial potting. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 440, 100–107.
- Cotter, A.J.R., Walker, P., Coates, P., Cook, W. & Dare, P.J. (1997). Trial of a tractor dredger for cockles in Burry Inlet, South Wales. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 54: 72-83.
- Cryer, M., Whittle, G.N. & Williams, R. (1987). The impact of bait collection by anglers on marine intertidal invertebrates. *Biological Conservation* 42: 83-93.
- Currie, D. R.& Parry, G. D. (1999). Impacts and efficiency of scallop dredging on different soft substrates. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* 56: 539-550.
- Depestele, J., Ivanovic, A., Degrendele, K., Esmaeili, M., Polet, H., Roche, M., Summerbell, K., Teal, L.R., Vanelslander, B., and F.G. O'Neill, 2015. Measuring and assessing the physical impact of beam trawling. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsv056.
- Drabsch, S.L., Tanner, J.E., and Connell, S.D. (2001) Limited infaunal response to experimental trawling in previously untrawled areas. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. Vol . 58, 1261-1271.
- Dunn, E and Steel, C. 2001. The impact of longline fishing on seabirds in the north-east Atlantic: Recommendations for reducing mortality. Report for RSPB. 110pp.
- Eigaard, O., Bastardie, F., Breen, M., Dinesen, G.E., Hintzen, N.T., Laffargue, P., Mortensen, L.O., Rasmus Nielsen, J., Nilsson, H.C., O'Neill, F.G., Polet, H., Reid, D.G., Sala, A., Sköld, M., Smith, C., Sørensen, T.K., Tully, O., Zengin, M. & Rijnsdorp, A.D. 2015. Estimating seabed pressure from demersal trawls, seines, and dredges based on gear design and dimensions. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsv099.
- Eleftheriou, A. and Robertson, M.R. (1992) The effects of experimental scallop dredging on the fauna and physical environment of a shallow sandy community. *Netherlands Journal of Sea Research*. Vol 30: 289-299.
- Eno, N.C., Frid, C.L.J., Hall, K., Ramsay, K., Sharp, R.A.M., Brazier, D.P., Hearn, S., Dernie, K.M., Robinson, K.A., Paramor, O.A.L. and Robinson, L.A. (2013) Assessing the sensitivity of habitats to fishing: from seabed maps to sensitivity maps. *Journal of Fish Biology*; 2013.
- Eno, N.C., MacDonald, D.S., Kinnear, J.A.M., Amos, S.C., Chapman, C.J., Clark, R.A., Bunker, F.St.P.D and Munro, C. 2001. Effects of crustacean traps on benthic fauna. *ICES Journal of Marine* Science. Vol. 58, 11-20.
- Evans, P.G.H. and Hintner, K. (2012) A Review of the Direct & Indirect Impacts of Fishing Activities on Marine Mammals in Welsh waters. CCW Policy Research Report No. 104: 1-204.
- Fangel, K., Aas, O., Volstand, J.H., Baerum, K.M., Christensen-Dalsgaards, S., Nedreaas, K., Overvik, M., Wold, L.C., and Anker-Nilssen. T. 2015. Assesing incidental bycatch of seabirds in Norwegian coastal commercial fisheries: Empirical and methodological lessons. *Global Ecology* and Conservation. 4: 127 – 136.
- Ferns, P. N., Rostron, D. M. & Siman, H. Y. (2000). Effects of mechanical cockle harvesting on intertidal communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. 37: 464-474.
- Fitzsimmons, C., University of Newcastle-upon-Tyne. Research on the impacts of potting in Northumberland.
- Fowler, S. (1989) Nature Conservation implication of damage to the seabed by commercial fishing operations. Nature Conservancy Council Report No. 79, pp 1-33.
- Gall, S., Plymouth University PhD student. Research on the impacts of potting in South Devon. Funded by the Devon and Severn IFCA.
- Garcia Barcelona, S., Ortiz de Urbina, J.M., de la Serna, J.M., Alot, E. and Macías, D. (2010) Seabird bycatch in Spanish Mediterranean large pelagic longline fisheries, 2000-2008. *Aquatic Living Resources* DOI: 10.1051/alr/2010022.

- Hartnoll, R. G., 1998. Circalittoral faunal turf biotopes: An overview of dynamics and sensitivity characteristics for conservation management of marine SACs, Volume VIII. Scottish Association of Marine Sciences, Oban, Scotland.
- Haynes, T., Bell, J., Saunders, G., Irving, R., Williams, J. and Bell. G. (2014) Marine Strategy Framework Directive Shallow Sublittoral Rock Indicators for Fragile Sponge and Anthozoan Assemblages Part 1: Developing Proposals for Potential Indicators. JNCC Report No. 524, Nature Bureau and Environment Systems Ltd. for JNCC, JNCC Peterborough.
- Hill AS, Veale LO, Pennington D, Whyte SG, Brand AR, Hartnoll RG. 1999. Changes in Irish Sea benthos: possible effects of 40 years of dredging. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 1999; 48: 739-750.
- Hinz, H., Hiddink, J.G., Forde, J., and Kaiser, M.J. 2008. Large-scale responses of nematode communities to chronic otter-trawl disturbance. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 65: 723–732.
- Hinz, H., Prieto, V., and Kaiser, M.J. 2009. Trawl disturbance on benthic communities: chronic effects and experimental predictions. *Ecological Applications* 19: 761–773.
- Holt, T.J., Rees, E.I., Hawkins, S.J., and Seed, R (1998) Biogenic Reefs (volume IX). An overview of dynamic and sensitivity characteristics for conservation management of marine SACs. Scottish Association for Marine Science (UK Marine SACs Project). 170 Pages.
- Howarth, L. M. & Stewart, B. D. 2014. The dredge fishery for scallops in the United Kingdom (UK): effects on marine ecosystems and proposals for future management. Report to the Sustainable Inshore Fisheries Trust. Marine Ecosystem Management Report no. 5, University of York, 54 pp.
- "ICES, 2009. Report of the working group on the Ecosystem Effects of Fishing Activities (WGECO). 15-21 April 2009. Copenhagen, Denmark. ICES CM 2009/ACOM:20. 190 pp."
- ICES. 2015. Report of the Working Group on Bycatch of Protected Species (WGBYC), 2-6 February 2015, ICES Headquarters, Copenhagen, Denmark. ICES CM 2015\ACOM:26. 82 pp.
- Isles of Scilly IFCA. Qualitative study assessing impact of potting on reef through underwater video.
- Jennings, S., Lee, J and Hiddink, J.G. 2012. Assessing fishery footprints and the trade-offs between landings value, habitat sensitivity and fishing impacts to inform marine spatial planning and the ecosystem approach. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 69: 1053-1063.
- Jennings, S., Nicholson, M.D., Dinmore, T.A., and Lancaster, J.E. 2002. Effect of chronic trawling disturbance on the production of infaunal communities. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 243: 251-260.
- JNCC & NE, 2011. Advice from the Joint Nature Conservation Committee and Natural England with regard to fisheries impacts on Marine Conservation Zone habitat features, 113pp.
- Kaiser, M. J., Ramsay, K., Richardson, C. A., Spence, F. E. & Brand, A. R. (2000). Chronic fishing disturbance has changed shelf sea benthic community structure. *Journal of Animal Ecology*. 69: 494-503.
- Kaiser, M.J. and Spencer, B.E. 1996. The effects of beam-trawl disturbance on infaunal communities in different habitats. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 65: 348-358.
- Kaiser, M.J., Ramsay, K., Richardson, C.A., Spence, F.E., and Brand, A.R. 2000. Chronic fishing disturbance has changed shelf sea benthic community structure. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 69: 494–503.
- Lambert, G. I., Murray, L.G., Hiddink J. G., Hinz H., Salomonsen H, & Kaiser, M.J. (2015a, b and c). Impact of scallop dredging on benthic communities and habitat features in the Cardigan Bay Special Area of Conservation. Part I, II and III – Impact on infaunal invertebrates. Fisheries & Conservation report No. 59, 60 and 61. Bangor University.
- Langton, R.W. & Robinson, W.E. (1990). Faunal associations on scallop grounds in the western Gulf of Maine. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 144: 157-171.

- Lanieri, K., Louzao, M., Martinez-Abrain, A., Arcos, J.M., Belda, E.J., Guallart, J., Sanchez, A., Gimenez, M., Maestre, R., Oro, D. 2010. Trawling regime influences longline seabird bycatch in the Mediterranean: new insights from a small scale fishery. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*. 420: 241 – 252.
- Lindeboom, H.J. & de Groot, S.J. (1998). The effects of different types of fisheries on the North Sea and Irish Sea benthic ecosystems. The Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Den Burg, Texel.
- MacArthur Green. 2013. Evidence review to support the identification of potential conservation measures for selected species of seabirds. Report for Defra MB0138.
- Malcolm L. Windsor, Peter Hutchinson, Lars Petter Hansen and David G. Reddin. 2012. Atlantic salmon at sea: Findings from recent research and their implications for management. NASCO document CNL(12)60. Edinburgh, UK. 20pp.
- McConnaughey, R. A., Mier, K. L. & Dew, C. B. (2000). An examination of chronic trawling effects on soft-bottom benthos of the eastern Bering Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. 57: 1377-1388.
- McConnaughey, R.A. and S.E. Syrjala 2014. Short-term effects of bottom trawling and a storm event on soft-bottom benthos in the eastern Bering Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 71: 2469-2483.
- Morizur, Y., Berrow, S.D., Tregenza, N.J.C., Couperus, A.S., Pouvreau, S. 1999. Incidental catches of marine mammals in pelagic trawl fisheries of the northeast Atlantic. *Fisheries Research*, 41: 297–307.
- NOAA (1996). Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary Final Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statement. 3 Volumes. NOAA/NOS/OCRM/Sanctuaries and Reserves Division. Marathon, FL.
- Pirotta, E., Merchant, N. D., Thompson, P. M., Barton, T. R., & Lusseau, D. (2015). Quantifying the effect of boat disturbance on bottlenose dolphin foraging activity. *Biological Conservation*, 181, 82-89.
- Pravoni, F., Raicevich, S., Franchescini, G., Farrace, M.G. and Giovanardi, O. (2000). Rapido trawling in the northern Adriatic Sea: effects on benthic communities in an experimental area. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 57: 517-524.
- Prena, J., Schwinghammer, P. Rowell, T., Gordon, D. C., Gilkinson, K. D., Vass, W. P. & McKeown, D. L. (1999). Experimental otter trawling on a sandy bottom ecosystem of the Grand Banks of Newfoundland: analysis of trawl bycatch and effects on epifauna. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. 181: 107-124.
- Rees, A., Plymouth University PhD student. Research on the impacts of different levels of potting intensity in Lyme Bay. Funded by the Blue Marine Foundation.
- Roberts, C., Smith, C., Tillin, H. Tyler-Walters, H. 2010. Review of existing approaches to evaluate marine habitat vulnerability to commercial fishing activities. Report: SC080016/R3. ISBN: 978-1-84911-208-6
- Robinson, S.M.C., Bernier, S. and MacIntyre, A. (2001). The impact of scallop drags on sea urchin populations and benthos in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. *Hydrobiologia*, 465: 103-114.
- Sanchez, P., Demestre, M. Ramon, M. & Kaiser, M. J. (2000). The impact of otter trawling on mud communities in the northwestern Mediterranean. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. 57: 1352-1358.
- Scottish MPA Project (2013) Fisheries Management Guidance. Maerl Beds: Maerl or coarse shell gravel with burrowing sea cucumbers. July 2013.
- Sparks-McConkey, P. J. & Watling, L. (2001). Effects on the ecological integrity of a soft-bottom habitat from a trawling disturbance. *Hydrobiologia*. 456: 73-85.
- Spencer, B.E., Kaiser, M.J. and Edwards, D.B. (1998). Intertidal clam harvesting: benthic community change and recovery. *Aquaculture Research*, 29: 429-437. with added data from: Spencer, B.E., Kaiser, M.J. and Edwards, D.B. (1997). Ecological effects of intertidal Manila clam

cultivation: observations at the end of the cultivation phase. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 34: 444-452

- Stephenson, F., Fitzsimmons, C., Polunin, N.V.C., Mill, A.C., Scott, C.L. (2015). Assessing Long-Term Benthic Impacts Of Potting In Northumberland. Report to Natural England.
- The N2K Group, European Economic Interest Group. Undated. Overview of the potential interactions and impacts of commercial fishing methods on marine habitats and species protected under the EU Habitats Directive.

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/natura2000/marine/docs/Fisheries%20interactions.pdf

- Thrush, S.F., Hewitt, J.E., Cummings, V.J. & Dayton, P.K. (1995). The impact of habitat disturbance by scallop dredging on marine benthic communities: what can be predicted from the results of experiments? *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 129: 141-150.
- Tillin, H.M., Hull, S.C., Tyler-Walters, H. (2010). Development of a sensitivity Matrix (pressures-MCZ/MPA features). Report to the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs from ABPmer, Southampton and the Marine Life Information Network (MarLIN) Plymouth: Marine Biological Association of the UK. Defra Contract No. MB0102 Task 3A, Report No. 22.
- Van den Heiligenberg, T.C. (1987). Effects of mechanical and manual harvesting of lugworms Arenicola marina L. on the benthic fauna of tidal flats in the Dutch Wadden Sea. *Biological Conservation* 39: 165-177.
- Vinther, M. 1999. Bycatches of harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena* L.) in Danish set-net fisheries. *J. Cetacean Res. Manage.*, 1(2): 123–135.
- Warden ML. 2010. Bycatch of wintering common and red-throated loons in gillnets off the USA Atlantic coast, 1996-2007. Aquatic Biology. Vol 10: 167-185.
- Watling, L., Findlay, R.H., Mayer, L.M. & Schick, D.F. (2001). Impact of a scallop drag on the sediment chemistry, microbiota, and faunal assemblages of a shallow subtidal marine benthic community. *Journal of Sea Research*, 46: 309-324.
- Young, T. E. (2013) Assessing the impact of potting on chalk reef communities in the Flamborough Head European Marine Site. Report to the North Eastern Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority. Unpublished thesis (MSc) Newcastle University. Pp74.



ABP Marine Environmental Research Ltd (ABPmer) Quayside Suite, Medina Chambers, Town Quay, Southampton S014 2AQ

T +44 (0)23 80 711840 F +44 (0)23 80 711841 E enquiries@abpmer.co.uk

www.abpmer.co.uk

Creating sustainable solutions for the marine environment